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Keep your promise.  

Returning home safe to your loved
ones is a promise you make every day.

Tragically in Ontario a worker dies almost every day from a 

workplace injury or illness. They will not be able to keep the 

promise they made to friends and family to come home safely.

In every workplace, hazards need to be respected, controlled, 

and if possible, eliminated. Getting home safely each day 

requires respect for the hazards that can occur, no matter how 

remote the possibility. Learn how IHSA can help. Visit ihsa.ca

ihsa.ca
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IHSA’s mandate is to develop, deliver, measure, and evaluate safety 

education for work environments involving high-risk activities such 

as working at heights, working with energized high-voltage power 

systems, powerline technician apprenticeship, driving motor vehicles, 

transporting dangerous goods, working on suspended access 

equipment, and utility line clearing.

As part of Ontario’s health and safety system, we are recognized by 

the Ministry of Labour, the Ministry of Transportation, the Ministry 

of Training, Colleges and Universities, and the Workplace Safety and 

Insurance Board as designated trainers and consultants. So, you 

can be sure that the training you get from IHSA meets regulatory 

requirements and compliance standards.

With a combined 250 years of safety education experience, IHSA 

offers high-risk activity solutions to over 117,000 member firms and 

680,000 workers in Ontario. Our commitment to quality and our 

philosophy of skills development through education is evident in the 

way we deliver our 85 unique sector-specific educational programs. 

No one else in the Ontario Prevention System offers the quality and 

scope of training we provide. Our training delivery model and our 

highly skilled team of regional trainers and consultants give IHSA the 

unique ability to offer all of our educational programs on demand, 

anywhere in Ontario.

Who We Are

What We Do

Our training 

delivery model and 

our highly skilled 

team of regional 

trainers and 

consultants give 

IHSA the unique 

ability to offer all 

of our educational 

programs on 

demand, anywhere 

in Ontario
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IHSA serves the  

following industries:

• construction

• electrical

• utilities

• transportation

• aggregates

• natural gas

• ready-mix concrete.

You are automatically a member of IHSA if you are employed with a firm that 

pays premiums to the WSIB in Ontario in one of the rate groups listed below.

IHSA works closely with its industry partners and labour associations 

through its Labour-Management Network, its industry-based Advisory 

Councils, its Fleet Safety Council, and its two Section 21 Committees—

the Provincial Labour-Management Health and Safety Committee for 

Construction (PLMHSC) and the Provincial Labour-Management Safety 

Committee for Electrical and Utilities (PLMSC).

Our Membership

	 Rate	 Sector 	 Rate	 Sector

 134 Aggregates

 497 Ready-Mix Concrete

 551 Air Transport Industries

 553 Air Transport Services

 560 Warehousing

 570 General Trucking

 577 Courier

 580 Miscellaneous Transportation

 584 School Buses

 681 Lumber/Builders Supply

 689 Waste Materials Recycling

 704 Electrical and Incidental  
  Construction

 707 Mechanical and Sheet Metal

 711 Road Building and Excavation

 719 Inside Finishing

 723 ICI Construction

 728 Roofing

 732 Heavy Civil Construction

 737 Millwrighting and Welding

 741 Masonry

 748 Formwork and Demolition

 751 Siding and Outside Finishing

 755 Non-Exempt Partners and 
  Executive Officers in  
  Construction

 764 Homebuilding

 830 Power and  
  Telecommunication Lines

 833 Electric Power Generation

 835 Oil, Power and Water  
  Distribution

 838 Natural Gas Distribution
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In the following interview, Al Beattie, President and CEO  
of IHSA, reflects on the challenges and accomplishments  
of 2013.

1. What would you say are some of the key successes of 2013?
 From a strategic plan perspective, we have 22 goals in our current 

plan and we are close to completing all of them.  But if I had to pick 

two highlights for 2013, I would first pick Goal 19, which deals with 

enhancing our own internal health and safety management system. 

 In order to facilitate or project manage this goal, we decided to sign 

on to the COR™ program (Certificate of Recognition). I think that really 

helped us build a better health and safety management system. Our 

experience of going through the process ourselves has enabled us to 

educate all of our staff on what COR™ is and also what it isn’t. In this 

way, we’re better able to help others use the COR™ program as well. 

That’s one success we’ve had. 

 Another success story from 2013 would be Goal 22, which deals with 

assessment and evaluation. Using the ROI methodology, we were 

able to evaluate many of the programs that we deliver and embed 

qualitative outcome-based performance measures in these programs. 

That kind of commitment to excellence really sets us apart.

 Our current strategic plan will take us to the end of 2014. Our next 

strategic plan will focus our efforts on measurement and evaluation. We 

are going to measure, evaluate, and quantify everything we do as an 

organization.

2. What are some things that we 
as an organization learned from 
taking part in COR™ that will 
make us better prepared to 
provide it to our members?

 I think it’s like anything—once you do it yourself, you learn a lot more. 

We’ve learned that we have a lot of work to do with our own internal 

health and safety initiatives. Many of the things we were doing needed 

to be backed up with better documentation. We did a lot of staff 

training, but we couldn’t find all of the records. Basically, we learned 

we’re a lot like anybody else or any other organization. 

Message from the CEO 

Al Beattie, President 
and CEO of IHSA

Al Beattie signs IHSA on 
as an employer that will 
undergo the COR audit
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 The fact that we are using COR™ as an educational tool 

means that it’s going to take us a little longer than other 

firms to make sure that everyone gets an equal opportunity 

to be educated on all of the elements of COR™.

3. How do you think we are progressing through our 
first strategic plan?

 Having 22 goals in the plan was a lot. But over a three-

year period, I felt it was doable. The fact that we project-

managed them was truly a benefit. It allowed us 

to quantify some outcomes-based performance 

measures. We are doing very well so far.

4. What are some of the key concepts from 
the IHSA Strategic Plan that people should 
know about?

 I think the primary strategic direction of our three-

year plan is creating and delivering unique sector-

specific value to our members. Our uniqueness is 

one of our strengths. And it’s not just a concept—

it can be measured. Many organizations say they 

want to be “the best.” It’s very hard to measure 

that. But you can measure uniqueness. 

 We have more than 85 programs that no one else 

in the prevention system offers. That’s unique. 

We offer 22 programs at no charge to members. 

That’s unique. We have 44 products at no charge. Also unique. That’s a 

good guiding principle. And we’re going to continue having uniqueness 

as a guiding principle as well as measurement and evaluation, which will 

be the direction of our next strategic plan. 

5. Do you feel that IHSA has accomplished what it set out to do 
with the first strategic plan?

 I think one of the points is how long we have had the strategic plan. 

It was approved by our Board of Directors on September 19, 2011, 

and we started to work on it immediately. I don’t think I could run an 

organization without a strategic plan. 

 One of the benefits of using a plan is that everyone in the organization 

is able to set their own personal goals to align with the strategic goals. 

That’s how we manage our performance evaluation, with that linkage 

to the strategic plan. Without a plan there would be nothing to link to. 

The plan gave us our direction and focus. I think that was a huge turning 

point for the organization. It was our framework. 

Strategic 

Direction—

Develop, deliver, 

measure, and 

evaluate safety 

education

Guiding Principle—

Creating and 

delivering unique, 

sector-specific 

value for our 

stakeholders

Al Beattie attends the 
2013 Safety Groups event 
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6. What would you like to see included in the next strategic plan?
 In preparation for developing the next strategic plan, we reached out to 

stakeholders through our Labour-Management Network, our Fleet Safety 

Council, and our Board of Directors. We did a better job of engaging our 

stakeholders this time. Last time, it was a little rushed. We were also better 

at engaging our own employees. 

 For the next strategic plan, we have an implementation team or strategic 

development team that is taking the raw data, the environmental scan 

information, and feedback from stakeholders through surveys, and they 

are compiling the data. This will give us some direction on where we 

should go with the next plan.

7. In the coming years, what challenges do you think IHSA will face?
 I think there will always be political pressure for IHSA to co-ordinate more 

with the Ministry of Labour, the Prevention Office, and the WSIB. The 

Prevention Office, for example, has its own strategic plan. So I think there 

will be pressure to link directly with it. 

 You could argue that by doing that, we lose some of our uniqueness. We 

pride ourselves on being unique. If we align too closely with a provincial 

strategy, some of that uniqueness will disappear. So we are going to do 

a bit of both. We are going to link with the provincial prevention strategy 

but still try to maintain our uniqueness. That will be the challenge of 

formulating the next strategic plan.

 What’s the best way to do that? We will assess the goals of the Prevention 

Office in our own unique way. That will be a challenge as well. Showing 

evidence or demonstrating that we are, in fact, unique. That’s always been 

difficult and it will continue to be difficult. 

8. Based on your consultations with stakeholders, what changes do 
you foresee to the next strategic plan?

 Through feedback and surveys, stakeholders told us that we should link 

with the provincial prevention strategy. That was a key finding—and one 

that may be a bit of a struggle as well.

 

 For example, the provincial prevention strategy focuses on falls. While 

much of our focus has certainly been on falls, it’s not the primary source of 

injuries and fatalities for our membership. What our 122,000 member firms 

struggle with the most is motor vehicle incidents (MVIs). 

 So we will assist with the provincial prevention priorities and do our part 

to prevent falls, no question. But we can’t lose sight of the number-one 

Al Beattie receives the Charles A. 
Tallon Award for Exceptional Service 

from Dean Gatien at the 2013 AGM

A strategic plan is 

like a road map—it 

shows you how 

to get where you 

need to be
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Al Beattie, President and CEO
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risk to our members, which is MVIs. Ethically and strategically, we have 

to focus on both priorities so that we can serve our members while 

maintaining our guiding principle. 

9. How does having a strategic plan to focus on help the 
organization?

 A strategic plan is like a road map—it shows you how to get where you 

need to be. Our mandate has always been safety education through 

skills development. A good strategic plan should help focus that 

mandate. Just the fact that we align our own personal goals with the 

strategic plan helps a lot. 

 Everybody in the organization is directly involved in the success of 

the plan through their own performance. I think a lot of strategic plans 

don’t have that. It’s just a document that people occasionally talk about. 

The 170 people that work at IHSA have an 

important relationship with our strategic 

plan. They determine whether it succeeds 

or fails. That’s very powerful. 

 In the end, we have developed a clearly 

defined path that IHSA must follow if we 

wish to reduce injuries and illnesses in our 

member firms. They are outlined in our 

vision, our mission, our strategic direction, 

and our guiding principle.

Jack Phillips and Suzanne Schell 
(front centre) from the ROI 

Institute take the first group 
of IHSA staff through the ROI 

Certification training

Using the ROI 

methodology, 

we can embed 

qualitative 

outcome-based 

performance 

measures into our 

programs

The primary strategic 

direction of this  

three-year plan is 

creating and delivering unique 

sector-specific value for our 

stakeholders.
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The IHSA Board of Directors is a bipartite body made up of 

representatives from IHSA’s membership. The board includes specific 

representation from the following sectors.

• Electrical

• Transportation

• General ICI

• Heavy Civil and Aggregates

• Mechanical

• Residential

Executive	Committee

Mike Archambault ................................................................................Aecon Group Inc.

Dean Gatien .................................................PowerTel Utilities Contractors Limited

Tim Holdaway ......................................................................Midland Transport Limited

Joe Redshaw ...................................International Union of Operating Engineers, 

  Local 793

Electrical

Jack Dowding ............................................ IBEW Construction Council of Ontario

Dean Gatien .................................................PowerTel Utilities Contractors Limited

Keith Rattai ......................................................The Society of Energy Professionals

Mark Turney .................................................................................................................Veridian

Transportation

Tim Holdaway ......................................................................Midland Transport Limited

Barry House .............................................................................................First Canada ULC

Len Poirier ..................................................................................................UNIFOR Canada

General	ICI

Mike Archambault ................................................................................Aecon Group Inc.

Bob Kerr ......................................................Brick and Allied Craft Union of Canada

Heavy	Civil	&	Aggregates

Darrin Husack ........................................................................................... ConDrain Group

Joe Redshaw ...................................International Union of Operating Engineers,

                                                                                                 Local 793

Mechanical

Tom Lachance .......................................................TESC Contracting Company Ltd.

Don Schultz ..............................................Millwrights Regional Council of Ontario

Residential

Eugene Filice ........................................................................ Great Gulf Homes Limited

Claudio Mazzotta ................Drywall Acoustic Lathing & Insulation, Local 675

Outgoing members Bud McAuley 
(top) and Jonathan Zuber (bottom) 
receive Member Appreciation 
plaques in recognition of their 
contribution to the Board of 
Directors

2013 Board of Directors
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Mike 
Archambault

Tim 
Holdaway

Dean Gatien

Message from the 
Executive
IHSA’s strategic plan has successfully 
charted the organization’s direction 

On September 19, 2011, we approved a three-year strategic plan. This 

plan includes 22 goals that have defined IHSA’s strategic direction 

and guided IHSA’s work since 2012. It has helped move us from 

a newly amalgamated organization searching for its identity to a 

unified entity with the expertise and capacity to serve its entire 

membership. 

The purpose of a strategic plan is to attain an enthusiastic consensus 

among the top executives in an organization. This will help drive 

the decisions that the executives will have to make so that their 

organization will be in a strong position to face the long-term future. 

Strategic planning acts as a road map, providing an overall direction 

for years to come by identifying which areas an organization needs 

to concentrate on most.

The development of IHSA’s first strategic plan was a critical step in 

our history. It formed a solid foundation upon which we were able 

to construct our new identity. And, as we near the end of the three-

year plan, we can reflect on how well it has served the organization 

and its members. We are pleased with everything that’s been 

accomplished and how close we have all come to achieving the goals 

that were set back in 2011.

The guiding principle was to create unique sector-specific value for 

our stakeholders. We believe that this is being accomplished through 

IHSA’s one-of-a-kind services and specialized initiatives. 

In addition to creating sector-specific value, the plan also 

• supported Ontario’s prevention system priorities

• supported effective governance by the IHSA Board of Directors

• facilitated alignment among us and our health and safety system 

partners

• informed clients and stakeholders of IHSA’s strategic direction and 

how it would meet their needs

• enabled strategic management and operations by IHSA staff

• guided annual business planning for IHSA.

Joe
Redshaw

IHSA’s first 

strategic plan 

formed a solid 

foundation upon 

which we were 

able to construct 

our new identity



Mike Archambault, 
Co-Chair

Joe Redshaw, 
Co-Chair
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By the end of 2013, the 22 goals that we had set out were well underway. 

One-third had already been achieved, and most of the others were on target 

for completion by the end of 2014. Our goals and objectives are always being 

reviewed to ensure we are as up-to-date as funding and income will allow. 

Although we still have a lot to accomplish, we’re proud of the progress that 

has been made. 

IHSA will continue to strive for excellence and encourage our member 

industries to always train to the highest standard available.  We will also 

endeavour to keep up with the constant and dynamic changes and new 

technologies in our industries in order to meet those training needs. We 

believe IHSA is moving in a positive direction and will continue to make a 

difference in the lives of workers in high-risk industries.

12     ihsa.ca

Al Beattie and Tim Holdaway 
present a Certificate of 

Achievement to Midland Transport

Dean Gatien accepts the President’s Award for 
PowerTel from Al Beattie

IHSA is moving 

in a positive 

direction and will 

continue to make 

a difference in the 

lives of workers in 

high-risk industries
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1. Reduction in musculoskeletal disorders

2. Reduction in slips, trips, and falls

3. System-wide leadership in skills-based training for motor 

vehicle incidents

4. Reduction in struck-by object incidents

5. Implementation of the recommendations of the Expert Advisory Panel 

on Occupational Health and Safety

6. Renewal of Joint Health and Safety Committees’, certification training

7. Stronger co-ordination and communication between IHSA and the 

MOL on blitz activity and other related prevention initiatives to benefit 

members

8. Greater development of cohort firms’ internal responsibility systems

9. Increased engagement of vulnerable workers

10. Increased engagement of small firms

11. Improve injury performance of high-risk firms and chronic violators 

within our sectors

12. Reduction in acute and future chronic diseases and illnesses from 

exposure to health hazards 

13. Increased awareness of the value of the IHSA brand among existing and 

potential customers/stakeholders

14. A highly effective industry network of engaged stakeholders 

contributing towards IHSA’s strategic aim

15. Effective and efficient policies and procedures to manage 

organizational risk

16. A common consolidated data system that meets current and future 

IHSA needs

17. Needed competencies in place to achieve IHSA’s strategic aim and meet 

customer needs

18. Improved internal communication

19. Enhanced health and safety management system within IHSA

20. Results-based planning

21. Diversified markets and revenue streams

22. Measurement and evaluation
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IHSA’S Prevention 
Priority Goals

IHSA’s Development Goals

IHSA’s Vision

Workplaces 

without injuries, 

illnesses, or 

fatalities 

IHSA’s Mission

To develop 

sector-specific 

partnerships 

and support the 

implementation 

of prevention 

solutions that 

provide continuous 

improvement  

in health 

and safety 

performance



Working at Heights 
Training Standard 
2013 sees increase in provincial focus on  
working at heights
Falls are a major cause of injuries and death in Ontario workplaces, and 

most of those falls are from heights. Employers in the province must provide 

workers with fall protection training if the workers will be exposed to fall 

hazards. Previously, there was no procedure in place to ensure the quality of 

that training. In 2013 the Ontario Ministry of Labour (MOL) began the process 

of creating a working at heights standard for the province. 

Background
When the Expert Advisory Panel released its final report on Ontario’s 

occupational health and safety system in 2010, the Ontario government 

accepted all the recommendations contained in it. Recommendation 17 

was to develop mandatory fall protection training for workers who work at 

heights. The training and preparation for undertaking such high-hazard work 

needed to be more rigorous, standardized, accredited, and subject to audit.

The Prevention Office and the MOL put together a working group to develop 

the new working at heights standard. On a volunteer basis, representatives 

of various sectors—employers, organized labour, health and safety experts, 

and prevention system partners—contributed their time and expertise to 

its development.

In December of 2013, the MOL released the Working at Heights 

Training Program Standard for Ontario workplaces. It specified who 

must receive working at heights training and what they must learn 

from the training. As a hazard-based standard, it is intended to protect 

those who may be exposed to the danger of falling from heights. As a 

training standard, it provides for the development of curricula about 

fall hazards and general safety practices for working at heights.

A second standard—the Working at Heights Training Provider Standard—was 

released for stakeholder review and comment in early 2014. It includes criteria 

for delivering working at heights training programs, processes for reviewing 

and approving training providers and instructors, and requirements for record 

keeping and reporting.

IHSA’s	contribution	to	the	standard
IHSA played a large role in developing a draft working at heights standard 

in 2010 that was used as the basis for its own Working at Heights—

Fundamentals of Fall Prevention training program. This 2010 draft standard 

was used as reference material by the working group to create the new 

at Heights Training Standard • Working at Heights Training Standard • Working at Heights Training Standard • 



training standard. Like the draft standard, the new training standard 

requires both in-class knowledge and hands-on application. 

IHSA has supported this endeavour from the beginning. It’s an important 

change that can save lives and prevent life-altering injuries. Health and 

safety training standards are not a new concept. Some provinces already 

have them, and those provinces have seen their injury rates drop as a result. 

Newfoundland and Labrador is one example, and IHSA members heard 

from that province at the 2013 IHSA Annual General Meeting. 

IHSA invited keynote speaker Jackie Manuel, CEO of the Newfoundland 

and Labrador Construction Safety Association, to discuss the development 

of that province’s fall protection training standard. She noted that before 

standardization, there had been hundreds of training providers and 

huge discrepancies between the length of courses, the costs, and the 

quality of training. Since the standard came into effect, Manuel said, the 

improvements in training were changing lives. Even at a time of tremendous 

growth in the construction industry, falls from height were down more than 

25 per cent. 

IHSA’s	training	meets	the	purpose	of	the	standard
With these words in mind, IHSA began to prepare for similar efforts in 

Ontario. Over the course of 2013, IHSA program developers reviewed and 

revised our Working at Heights course to make sure it aligned with what 

would be provided in the Training Provider Standard. 

IHSA’s Working at Heights course is a robust program that covers the 

basic fall prevention information that workers need to know to work safely 

at heights. Students receive hands-on instruction and innovative safety 

information from experienced adult educators and subject-matter experts 

who come from the industries we serve. 

IHSA has been providing its Working at Heights course since the 

fall of 2010, when it was launched by then Minister of Labour 

Peter Fonseca. At that time the Minister stated that it “has the 

potential to become the ‘gold standard’ for basic fall prevention 

training in the province.”

Currently, neither the Training Program Standard nor the Training 

Provider Standard has been mandated into legislation and there 

is no system in place to approve training programs or training 

providers. However, workers still need to be trained in working at 

heights, and employers must train them. Waiting for legislative 

mandates and program and provider approvals is not an option.  

So train with IHSA and be confident that the training meets the 

purpose of the new standard.

IHSA’s Working at 

Heights training 

program requires 

in-class knowledge 

and hands-on 

application
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What makes us unique?

IHSA’s Governance Structure
• 18 Board Members
• Bipartite Governance (Labour and Management)
• 6 Advisory Councils representing 28 Rate Groups

• 16 Regional 
Committees

• 25 Trade/Sector 
Committees

IHSA’s Membership
• 28 WSIB Rate Groups
• 117,175 firms
• 679,704.6 workers
• 1,359,494,315 man-hours

Training Facilities
• Voyager Court Training Centre
• Skills Development Centre 

(SDC)
• Centre for Health and Safety 

Innovation (CHSI)
• Mobile Classroom

Our Service 

Delivery Model 

gives us the ability 

to offer any of 

our programs on 

demand anywhere 

in the province.

Makes Us Unique • What Makes Us Unique  • What Makes Us Unique • What Makes Us Unique • What Makes Us 

Sector-Specific Website
• Hazard-specific safety information
• More than 200 free downloadable 

resources, such as hazard-based safety 
talks, guides, and posters.

Strategic Plan
The primary strategic 
direction of this three-
year plan is creating and 
delivering unique sector-
specific value for our 
stakeholders.

History and Experience
IHSA’s legacy organizations were involved 
in sector-specific high-risk activity 
education for a combined total of more 
than 250 years.

Centre for Educational 
Excellence
Training programs aligned with 
current legislation and industry 
standards

16     ihsa.ca
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• 12 Chapters
• More than 600 

members

Section 21 Committees
• Provincial Labour-Management Health 

& Safety Committee – Construction 
(PLMHSC)

• Provincial Labour-Management Safety 
Committee – Electrical Utility (PLMSC)

• Transportation (210 participants)
• Electrical (22 participants)
• Construction (95 participants)

Collaborative Hands-on 
Training Agreements 
• Cambrian College (Sudbury)
• Confederation College (Thunder Bay)
• St. Clair College (Chatham)

Ministry of Training, 
Colleges & Universities
• IHSA is a Training Delivery Agent 

for the Powerline Technician 
Apprenticeship Program 

• IHSA is a Training Delivery Agent for 
the Utility Arborist Program

Training and Programs 
• 365 firms involved in the Certificate of Recognition 

Program (COR™)
• 85 unique training programs
• 23 no-charge-to-member training programs 
• 41 no-charge-to member products (printed)

Electrical Utility 
Safety Rules
Since 1914, the EUSR has been the 
foundation of health and safety 
education in the electrical utility industry.

Training programs 

aligned with 

current legislation 

and industry 

standards
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Association Recognized 
by Electric Power 
Research Institute (EPRI)
IHSA is the only third-party AP3-
compliant administrator for EPRI in 
Canada.
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IHSA’s Training and Consulting department 

continues to deliver top-quality health and safety 

education and guidance to our members.  In 2013, 

our educational experts maintained the same level 

of proficiency, adherence to professional standards, 

and applications to real-world situations that our 

clients have come to expect.

Our consultants are experienced health and safety professionals who 

show our clients how to apply best practices and world-class prevention 

strategies to their operations. Our trainers are subject-matter experts 

who come from the industries we serve. They make a commitment to 

our members to provide training when and where they need it. Although 

thousands of participants took courses at our training centres, many firms 

invited our trainers to their facilities to provide customized courses that met 

their specific training needs. 

Training facilities
IHSA has three training facilities in the GTA that provide state-of-the-art 

equipment and top-notch amenities for classroom-based training and 

practical, hands-on skills development. The Centre for Health and Safety 

Innovation (CHSI), the Skills Development Centre (SDC), and the Voyager 

Training Centre were all bustling with training activity in 2013. 

To accommodate the need for training in other areas of the province, IHSA 

books classrooms and meeting rooms in various locations as needed. IHSA 

also operates training facilities at Confederation College in Thunder Bay, at 

Cambrian College in Sudbury, and at St. Clair College in Chatham. We even 

have a mobile classroom that travels around the province and is able to 

provide training at remote jobsites. 

Training collaborations
Cambrian College 
IHSA’s relationship with Cambrian College continues to flourish, for the two 

training bodies have signed another agreement to maintain the Powerline 

Technician (PLTN) program at the Sudbury school. The four-semester 

(two-year) program at Cambrian gives students a solid foundation in both 

the theoretical and the practical knowledge of electricity transmission and 

distribution. The school boasts an outdoor yard, outfitted with equipment 

and tools, where students can practise their hands-on skills safely.

Training and 
Consulting

Al Beattie and Sonia Del Missier, 
Interim President of Cambrian 
College, renew their agreement 
to maintain the school’s two-year 
Powerline Technician program.

Len, 
Educator
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Cambrian’s powerline technician program is taught by 

college instructors and IHSA’s PLTN trainers. These specialists 

concentrate on proper procedures so that when the 

apprentices enter their co-op placements and eventually 

move on to permanent jobs, they have a solid background in 

the safe work methods needed in this trade. With a college 

diploma as well as an apprenticeship, these students begin 

their careers with a broad range of hands-on skills and 

theoretical knowledge.

Gezhtoojig Employment and Training  
Also based out of Sudbury, IHSA partnered with Gezhtoojig 

Employment and Training to provide a new course called 

Line Crew Ground Support. IHSA instructors trained aboriginal 

participants in the elements of ground support for powerline 

technicians so that they will be qualified for entry-level positions 

in the powerline industry. Over 15 weeks last fall, participants from 

around Northern Ontario completed 21 safety modules. The in-class 

and hands-on training covered everything from hoisting and rigging to 

pole installation to electrical safety. The course was so popular in 2013 

that we hope it will not only continue but also expand to accommodate 

the increased interest. 

St. Clair College 
At the Chatham campus of St. Clair College, IHSA helped establish a 

new pathway for powerline apprenticeship. Beginning in May 2013, 

graduates of the college’s Powerline Technician diploma program 

who met eligibility requirements started Level I training on site at the 

Chatham Campus. IHSA was approved to deliver this training by the 

Ministry of Training Colleges and Universities (MTCU). It’s an excellent 

opportunity to instill a health and safety ethic into workers at the 

apprentice level, which is a stepping stone toward creating a safe work 

environment across Ontario.

Confederation College 
IHSA’s partnership with Confederation College in Thunder Bay is still 

going strong. Having a permanent training facility in Northern Ontario 

allowed IHSA to offer a fixed training schedule for the area. IHSA 

expects the demand for training in the area to grow as construction 

and infrastructure projects increase to accommodate mining 

exploration in the Ring of Fire.  

Making health and safety an integral part of the students’ training 

means that a new generation of workers will get the information they 

need to work safe for life.

IHSA provided a new Line 
Crew Ground Support course 

to aboriginal youth

IHSA’s partnership with 
Confederation College in Thunder 

Bay will ensure that a new 
generation will work safe for life
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Training delivery
Students who take part in our training courses become ambassadors 

of safety, taking their new-found learning back to their workplaces. By 

demonstrating the safety skills they’ve learned through our programs, they 

provide positive examples for their fellow workers to emulate.

In 2013, a total of 34,609 participants took part in more than 3,300 IHSA 

training sessions across Ontario. These participants came from thousands of 

different firms of various sizes and represented a wide variety of industries, 

backgrounds, and levels of experience. 

Looking at the list of the top 10 courses attended in 2013, we can see that 

the most sought-after courses address the major hazards faced by IHSA 

members.

Training for high-risk activities
As the leading developer and provider of prevention solutions for work 

environments involving high-risk activities in the province, IHSA offers more 

than 50 specialized health and safety programs for high-risk activities. 

During 2013, our most popular courses involving hands-on or high-risk 

activities were 

• Working at Heights (2,162 participants)

• Confined Space Entry (482 participants)

• Suspended Access Equipment (263 participants)

• In-Cab Coaching and Evaluation (162 participants)

IHSA’s training courses are as diverse in their content as IHSA members are 

in the type of work they do. Our courses are based on the unique hazards 

that workers encounter. They provide solutions and field-tested techniques to 

prevent injuries and fatalities when performing high-risk activities. Even our 

Course	Name	 Number	of	Participants	

Basics of Supervising 4,560

Working at Heights—Fundamentals of Fall Prevention 2,162

Traffic Control—Temporary Work Zones 2,149

Defensive Driving—G Class Driver  1,371

Transportation of Dangerous Goods 1,282

Hoisting and Rigging—Basic Safety Training 1,212

Asbestos Work in Construction Hazard Awareness 1,065

Workplace Hazardous Material Information Systems 800

Trenching Safety Hazard Awareness 746

Defensive Driving—Commercial 585
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classroom-based courses are built upon a solid foundation of research 

and field expertise from consultants and program developers with 

direct experience in many of the industries IHSA serves. 

Powerline Technician Apprenticeship Program
Powerline technicians are responsible for the construction and 

maintenance of electrical transmission and distribution lines. In order to 

do this type of work, a four-year apprenticeship under the auspices of 

the Ministry of Training, Colleges and Universities (MTCU) is required.

IHSA is one of a limited number of training delivery agents designated 

by the MTCU to provide the skills-based training for all four levels of the 

Powerline Technician Apprenticeship (PTA) program. Each level covers 

all relevant theory and practical skills demonstration required for the 

apprenticeship program, including safe work techniques and legislation 

(Electrical Utility Safety Rules). 

In 2013, IHSA trained 215 apprentices at our Skills Development 

Centre (SDC). The SDC features modern facilities and top-of-the-

line equipment, including a confined space simulator, an energized 

three-phase underground yard, and two energized overhead lines. 

Apprentices learn from highly experienced, professional trainers and 

then demonstrate an understanding of their newly acquired skills using 

well-tested and evaluated safe work methods.

IHSA provides 

the skills-based 

training for all 

four levels of the 

Powerline Technician 

Apprenticeship 

program at our Skills 

Development Centre
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Stakeholder and Public 
Relations 
IHSA’s Stakeholder and Public Relations department works closely with 

stakeholders from all sectors. The department includes the Labour-

Management Network, the Fleet Safety Council, and the Advisory Councils. 

Labour-Management Network
IHSA’s Labour-Management Network of health and safety committees is a 

unique volunteer body. It is the only one of its kind in North America and a 

principal reason why Ontario has become among the safest places in the 

world to work. 

The Network consists of the Provincial Labour-Management Health and 

Safety Committee (PLMHSC) for construction, the Provincial Labour 

Management Safety Committee (PLMSC) for electrical and utilities, 16 

regional committees, and 25 construction trade/sector committees. 

The two provincial committees often adopt a province-wide or industry-

wide perspective. Both committees are recognized under Section 21 of the 

Occupational Health and Safety Act as advisors to the Minister of Labour. 

The provincial committees have a long history of bringing representatives 

from government, labour, and management together to improve workplace 

safety in Ontario’s construction, electrical, and utility sectors. Through them, 

members of the Labour-Management Network participate in reviewing and 

commenting on provincial regulations, industry standards, guidelines, and 

best practices.

The Construction Legislation Review Committee (CLRC) is a subcommittee 

of the PLMHSC. The CLRC co-ordinates and oversees the review of 

legislation under the Occupational Health and Safety Act. In 2013, the CLRC 

set up Working Groups to put together proposals to revise sections of the 

construction regulations related to:

The CLRC’s proposed revisions to Regulation 629: Diving Operations were 

included in the recent amendment to the diving regulations. The committee 

also worked on a proposal to remove the construction sector’s exemption 

from Regulation 833: Control of Exposure to Biological or Chemical Agents.

Regional and Trade/Sector Committees
The regional and trade/sector labour-management committees provide 

support and industry expertise to IHSA member firms and workers. Through 
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the dedicated and tireless efforts of approximately 800 volunteer 

participants, the Network continues to demonstrate its unique ability 

to support and effect change in worker health and safety. Twenty 

thirteen was no exception. The committees worked hard to improve 

health and safety in the workplace by developing hazard advisories, 

safety guidelines, and health and safety manuals. Most of this material is 

available at ihsa.ca for download, review, and distribution. 

Many of the committees reviewed and commented on legislative changes 

to the occupational exposure limits for workers in Regulation 833 and 

changes to the Tower Crane regulations under the Regulations for 

Construction Projects (213/91). They also received a presentation on the 

Ministry of Labour’s Integrated Occupational Health and Safety Strategy. 

The following are other highlights for the labour-management health and 

safety committees for 2013. 

Regional labour-management committees
The Windsor Regional Committee participated in the Greater Windsor 

Home Builders Association’s Annual Home Show. The show drew 

approximately 1,800 visitors to the event. The committee also received a 

presentation from Ontario One Call.

The Sarnia Regional Committee, in partnership with the Sarnia 

Construction Association, hosted the Supervisor Awards. Safety 

awards were presented to 455 Sarnia-area construction supervisors. 

The committee also received a presentation on the WSIB’s Program for 

Exposure Incident Reporting (PEIR) program.

The London Regional Committee hosted a fall protection information 

session at Fanshawe College with support from the Ontario Ministry of 

Labour and Guillevin International. Approximately 400 students from 

the Apprenticeship Programs, the Construction Engineering Technician 

program, and the Construction Engineering Technology (Management) 

program participated in the session.

The Central Ontario Committee produced four health and safety 

bulletins for the construction industry and participated in the Skills 

Ontario event, which included approximately 25,000 senior elementary 

and high school students. The committee also took the initiative to 

correspond with the Prevention Office regarding mandatory training for 

construction workers.

The Central Ontario Committee, the Hamilton Committee, and the 

Niagara Committee had their annual joint meeting. It’s the one time of 

year when the three committees get together to discuss common areas 

of concern. This year’s themes were slips, trips, and falls, young and 

vulnerable workers, and the Ontario College of Trades.

The Central Ontario Committee 
participated in the 2013 Skills 

Ontario event
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In addition to their joint meeting, the Hamilton Committee also reviewed and 

commented on the Ministry of Labour’s new Health and Safety Awareness 

Training for Workers and Supervisors and was involved in the revisions to the 

tower crane legislation.

Along with their joint meeting, the Niagara Committee continued with their 

efforts to introduce the Stop Think Educate Prepare (STEP) program to 

other committees and local high school students. This program helps young 

workers who are entering the workforce to think about health and safety. 

The committee also commented on the Ministry of Labour’s 

new Health and Safety Awareness Training for Workers and 

Supervisors. 

The Toronto Committee conducted a hands-on fall 

protection training demonstration at the Annual Co-chairs 

Meeting. With the help of industry leaders and subject-

matter experts from the committees, they presented a very 

informative training demonstration. In attendance were 

members of the PLMHSC and the co-chairs of the trade/

sector and regional committees. 

The Barrie Committee organized a Fall Protection Trade 

Show. Speakers included representatives from the Ministry 

of Labour and Threads of Life as well as Dilshod Marpoe, 

who survived a workplace injury. Approximately 145 people 

attended.

The Oshawa Committee invited high school students to participate in hands-

on demonstrations presented by various skilled trades. Health and safety 

was a vital portion of these educational demonstrations. This session gave 

245 students an opportunity to learn more about some of the skilled trades 

available in the area.

The Kingston Committee organized its fifth annual Health and Safety 

Conference. Chief Prevention Officer George Gritziotis was the keynote 

speaker, and Al Beattie gave the welcome message. There were 45 

participants in attendance. Presentations were made by representatives from 

the WSIB, MOL, and IHSA, among others. Seminar topics included noise-

induced hearing loss, MSDs and the aging workforce, safe and early return to 

work, and young workers.

The Ottawa Committee participated in the Youth Safety Conference with 

the Ottawa Safe Communities, as well as the City of Ottawa’s Smoke Free 

Space—Construction Sites promotion. Several training sessions were held, 

and Ottawa Mayor Jim Watson declared it to be Youth Safety Day in Ottawa. 

IHSA and the Ottawa Committee were well represented with several booths. 

Representatives from the Ministry of Labour, Ministry of Transportation, 
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Ottawa Police, and City of Ottawa Public Health were in attendance.

The committee created a fact sheet outlining the requirements and 

restrictions for “Take your Kids to Work Day” and distributed it through 

the Ottawa Catholic School Board. The committee also participated in 

Day of Mourning activities.

The North Bay Committee and the Sudbury Committee hosted their 

third annual Northeast Ontario Health and Safety Conference. The event 

was supported by more than 32 local sponsors and had 175 participants 

in attendance. 

The Timmins Committee held its first health and safety conference in 

2013. The theme of the event was “Safety is no accident.” The conference 

featured keynote speakers, vendor displays, and breakout sessions with 

140 participants in attendance.

The Sault Ste. Marie Committee developed a young worker awareness 

presentation focusing on high school students. The committee visited 

schools in the area to give the presentation, which is designed to make 

new and young workers aware of the hazards at work. 

The Northwestern Committee worked on promoting the “Keep Your 

Promise” poster campaign. The committee is collaborating with local 

contractors and labour organizations to have the IHSA poster featured 

on buses and at transit stops in the Thunder Bay area.

Trade/Sector Committees
The Acoustical Drywall Committee investigated ways to lock the wheels 

of a rolling scaffold while on a platform. The committee also lobbied 

the Ministry of Labour about proper toilets and clean-up facilities on 

construction sites. The Ministry responded by performing a hygiene 

enforcement blitz near the end of 2013.

The Civil Engineering Committee developed the Health and Safety 

Advisory—Reversing Vehicles: Personnel Detection Systems (W453). 

This advisory outlines the benefits and the limitations of some new 

technologies designed to detect workers around moving vehicles and 

equipment. Blind spots around construction equipment, especially those 

directly behind the equipment, are a leading cause of struck-by injuries 

and fatalities. When used in conjunction with a signaller, these new 

systems can help protect workers on busy jobsites.

The CLAC Committee conducted a study of their members, looking for 

common injury trends. They concluded that musculoskeletal disorders 

(MSDs) were the most common injury for their sector. In order to help 

their membership better understand the cause of these types of injuries 

and solutions for preventing them, the committee hosted an MSD 
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information seminar at their Cambridge location for over 50 participants. 

Many trades and sectors were represented, including electricians, mechanical, 

carpenters, construction labourers, operators, ready-mix/aggregate supply, 

and even hospital maintenance.

The ECAO/IBEW Committee completed a research report entitled The Visible 

and Invisible Consequences of Electrical Injury. It’s currently available under 

Statistics and Research on the ihsa.ca website.

The High-Rise Forming Committee developed the Health and Safety 

Advisory: SRLs for Leading Edge Work (W252). Self-retracting lifelines (SRLs) 

limit the distance a worker can fall. However, there are risks associated with 

anchoring SRLs horizontally while working on a leading or unprotected edge. 

The advisory outlines those risks and provides information on how to reduce 

them.

The Insulators Committee developed the Health and Safety Advisory: Heat 

Stress and Type 3 Asbestos Operations (W152). Since asbestos remediation 

requires full-body protective coveralls, head coverings, and other personal 

protective equipment such as respirators, gloves, and boots, it can put 

workers at risk of developing heat-related illnesses. The advisory outlines the 

risk factors for heat stress, the symptoms of heat-related illnesses, and the 

measures that can be taken to prevent them.

The Masonry Committee developed a new safety talk called Gin Wheels or 

Pulley Wheels. This safety talk will be included in the next printing of IHSA’s 

Safety Talks Manual. They are also developing a noise and hand/arm vibration 

exposure poster.

The Operating Engineers Committee created the Health and Safety Advisory: 

Boom Extensions (Jibs) Detaching from Mobile Cranes (W452). Serious 

workplace injuries have occurred when boom extensions (jibs), commonly 

found on telescopic boom mobile cranes, unexpectedly detached during 

installation or stowage. The advisory outlines safe work practices to eliminate 

this hazard.

The Pipe Trades Committee identified the main sources of hand-arm 

vibration syndrome (HAVS) among the pipe trades and developed a safety 

talk on the topic. This safety talk is available on the ihsa.ca website and will 

be included in the next printing of IHSA’s Safety Talks Manual. The committee 

also developed an MSD Hazard Profile for the Pipe Trades and held a joint 

meeting with the Sprinkler Fitters and Refrigeration Trades Committee to 

discuss common issues. 

The Residential Sector Committee created a guideline for ladder use on 

construction projects. This guideline has been endorsed by the Ministry of 

Labour and is available on the News and Events page of the ihsa.ca website.
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The Service Sector Committee developed the Service Sector Web Tool, 

which you can find under Tools	and	Resources on the ihsa.ca website. 

The committee won the Gil Samson Award at IHSA’s 2013 Annual General 

Meeting for its achievement. 

The Tunnelling Committee compiled a list of core training competencies 

that workers must have before arriving at a tunnelling project. These 

competencies have been broken into several categories including, 

surface, shaft, tunnel, and tunnel boring machines (TBMs). 

Advisory Councils
IHSA has several Advisory Councils made up of employer and worker 

representatives who meet regularly to inform IHSA’s Board of Directors 

about industry needs and upcoming trends. They serve as forums to help 

us better serve the industries of our member firms. They meet to review 

sector and rate group injuries, suggest corrective action, and provide 

guidance regarding IHSA programs, products, and services. 

In 2013, IHSA refined its Advisory Councils by amalgamating the 

construction Advisory Councils with the Provincial Labour-Management 

Health and Safety Committee (PLMHSC). In this way, the Councils were 

able to to eliminate the duplication of meetings and initiatives while still 

retaining their responsibility for appointing members to IHSA’s Board 

of Directors. The Electrical Advisory Council and the Transportation 

Advisory Council still remain intact and continue to focus on bringing 

attention to safety issues in their respective industries. 

Fleet Safety Council
The Fleet Safety Council is an association of driver trainers 

and safety professionals working to promote safety and share 

information within the transportation sector. The Council is 

an effective learning resource for many safety practitioners 

in the industry. Monthly chapter meetings provide learning 

opportunities on a variety of safety, compliance, legal, and 

operational topics. 

In addition to preventing injuries and incidents and reducing 

property and vehicular damage, participants have achieved 

considerable operating efficiencies and other benefits from being 

on the Council. IHSA staff provides support and information to the 

Council in each of its chapters throughout Ontario.

From September to June each year, the 600 volunteer members of 

the 12 regional chapters meet in various locations across Ontario. 

Meeting topics include truck and coach programs, roundabouts, speed 

limiters, mock trial, telematics, distracted driving, sleep disorders, and 

clinical health-care risk management. The Council gets support and 
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Tim Holdaway attends the 2013 Fleet 
Safety Conference in Kitchener

IHSA was a sponsor for the 
2013 Ontario Truck Driving 

Championships in Brantford

participation not only from IHSA but also from the Ontario Provincial Police, 

Ministry of Transportation, local police enforcement, Trucking HR Canada, 

insurance companies, Canada Border Securities and Employment, and Social 

Development Canada. 

In 2013, the Fleet Safety Council’s Annual Educational Conference was held in 

Kitchener. The theme was Predictive Behaviour Analysis Seminar – Preventing 

Incidents Before They Happen. The event featured sessions that provided 

insight into how actions and behaviour have an impact on situations and how 

telematics can indicate trends that could prevent further incidents. The 130 

delegates left with valuable information and skills to support the health and 

safety efforts within their companies.

Ontario Truck Driving Championships
The Ontario Truck Driving Championships (OTDC) were set up in 1947 to 

showcase the driving abilities of individuals who drive on our roads every day. 

Drivers represent various industries from trucking, waste management, ready-

mix, and local municipalities, to name a few.

Most drivers who enter the provincial event have either competed regionally 

or at a company or association event. The 10 runoff competitions have 188 

competitors vying for a spot to continue on to the provincial event.

At the 2013 provincial championships, held on July 13 in Brantford, 65 

competitors faced off in three separate events: a written test consisting of 

questions regarding the rules of the road, a pre-trip vehicle inspection judged 

by an MTO officer, and a series of driving obstacles.

The championships divide vehicles into five classes: straight truck, single-

single (single-axle tractor with a single-axle trailer), single-tandem (single-

axle tractor with a tandem trailer), tandem-tandem, and B-trains. This ensures 

that the widest cross-section of professional truck drivers can compete. All 

events are open to owner-operators as well as to company drivers who want 

to show off their skills to the trucking community.

First-place winners in each of the classes continue on to the national event, 

which is held yearly in different provinces across Canada. Companies support 

this unique event for the drivers as recognition not only of their skills but also 

of their commitment to safety in the industry.

IHSA supports the Ontario Truck Driving Championships and related 

events with dedicated staff each year. IHSA staff assists in the planning and 

organization, administrative oversight, promotion, and event scoring. In 2013, 

IHSA was also a sponsor for the event. These championships demonstrate 

excellence in the field of professional driving and help raise the bar for health 

and safety in the transportation industry. 
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IHSA prides itself on being unique in that we provide 

one-of-a-kind safety products and services to 

the sector-specific members we serve. For IHSA, 

this is more than just a statement or slogan; our 

distinctiveness is manifest in the content of our 

programs and products, the expertise of our instructors, program 

developers, and technical specialists, and the relationships we have 

with our members. 

Through stakeholder outreach and networking opportunities, we 

stay connected with our membership. In this way, we are best able to 

understand them and develop the products and training programs 

they need to improve safety at their workplaces. When developing 

or updating our programs and services, we ensure they align with 

legislative changes, industry best practices, and the prevention system 

priorities.

Centre for Educational Excellence
The highly trained program development coordinators of our Centre for 

Educational Excellence department develop the unique and sector-specific 

content of our training programs. They also review the effectiveness of our 

current educational offerings and assess the need to revise course content or 

come up with new methods of information delivery. 

The department has adopted the Canadian Society for Training and 

Development’s (CSTD) Competencies for Training and Development 

Professionals as their standard for workplace learning and course development. 

Developing new training programs 
The following training programs were revised by the department in 2013.

Introduction to Hazard and Risk Management
This new one-day program was developed to assist firms in creating or 

enhancing their hazard and risk management systems. This program would 

be of special interest to organizations that are becoming COR™ certified. They 

can evaluate their hazard assessment process by seeing how it measures up 

against the COR™ standard.
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Foundations of Hands-On Training  
This new one-day program helps trainers establish 

a safe environment for participants enrolled in 

certain hands-on training programs. The course is 

beneficial not only for IHSA trainers but also for 

associate trainers who deliver IHSA programs.

IHSA approved by EPRI to provide AP3 
evaluations 
IHSA’s strategic position as the leading developer 

and provider of prevention solutions for high-

risk work activities enabled our program developers to work closely with 

the Electrical Power Research Institute (EPRI). As recognition of our 

high standards of evaluation and technical proficiency, IHSA was granted 

approval from EPRI to act as AP3-compliant administrators. 

This makes IHSA the only third-party training provider in Canada to 

deliver the written examinations and evaluate the hands-on tasks used to 

demonstrate compliance with EPRI’s Administration Protocol for Portable 

Practicals (AP3) in Standardized Task Evaluations (STEs). In 2014, the 

department will work to increase the number of STEs it can deliver.

Revising existing training programs 
The following training programs were revised by the department in 2013.

• IHSA’s three-day Basics of Supervising program was changed to a 

more streamlined two-day course. In addition, a new version of the 

program was developed for our federally regulated firms. The Basics of 
Supervising—Federally Regulated course is applicable in all Canadian and 

US jurisdictions where our member companies operate.

• Our Hoisting and Rigging course was in need of an update. This was 

completed in 2013, and specific hands-on elements were added to 

enhance the program.

• Line Clearing Safety and Awareness has been updated to a two-day 

program. The revised course includes additional focus on equipment pre-

trip inspection, temporary work zones, and the Utility Work Protection 

Code. 

• As part of an internal continuous improvement initiative, the half-day 

COR™ Essentials program was updated with information that owners, 

senior managers, and internal auditors need to successfully plan and begin 

implementation of the COR™ program for their organization.  

• Department staff chaired an industry working group to coordinate 

updates to the safe practice guide Excavating with Hydrovacs in the 

Vicinity of Underground Electrical Plant (SPG4). These updates were then 

applied to the training program, Electrical Safety —Hydrovac Operators. 

Our program development coordinators ensure that our training course 

material remains up-to-date with legislative changes and regulatory 

As recognition of 

our high standards 

of evaluation, 

IHSA was granted 

approval from 

EPRI to act as 

AP3-compliant 

administrators
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Staff submitted a research 
proposal to the MOL on whole-

body vibration

Staff did a lot of work in support of 
prevention priority goal 1: Reduction in 

musculoskeletal disorders

amendments. Some of the changes that will be implemented in 2014 include 

the following.

• Significant changes were made to the new edition of the Ontario Traffic 

Manual Book 7 since the last revision in 2001. As a result, IHSA will be 

updating the Traffic Control—Temporary Work Zones course and the 

material associated with it. 

• The release of the Ontario Ministry of Labour Joint Health and Safety 

Committee (JHSC) Program and Provider Standards will necessitate a 

review and update of our training material. 

• The Canada Labour Code (CLC) will be revised with new requirements for 

workplace health and safety committees. These changes will affect the 

content of our federally regulated course material.

Research and Specialty Consulting
The technical specialists and subject-matter experts of our Research and 

Specialty Consulting department deliver health and safety assessments, 

seminars and presentations, conduct research, provide technical support for 

product development initiatives, and supply information resources as needed. 

In 2013, the department continued to provide support to the Canadian 

Standards Association (CSA) in the development of standards pertinent to 

our industries. These standards included fall protection, high-visibility apparel, 

elevating work platforms, propane code, ladders, and many others. Much 

of the work completed by the department last year was in support of the 

prevention priority goals identified in IHSA’s three-year Strategic Plan. 

Reduction in musculoskeletal disorders (MSDs)
As part of IHSA’s prevention priority goal to reduce MSDs, our 

researchers and subject-matter experts worked with the Centre of 

Research Expertise for the Prevention of MSDs (CRE-MSD) at the 

University of Waterloo. Together, they submitted a research proposal on 

using mobile technology to identify hazards and controls for low back 

pain. The department also worked on several research projects with 

CRE-MSD such as

• identifying new tools, processes, and ideas to reduce MSDs in 

construction and encouraging companies to adopt these innovative 

techniques

• studying knee osteoarthritis experienced by tile setters and masonry 

workers

• creating a plumber’s task and symptom survey  

Staff worked with the Institute for Work & Health (IWH) to measure 

the effectiveness of e-learning versus in-person learning for office 

ergonomics. In addition, they submitted a research proposal to the MOL on 

whole-body vibration. If approved, this research will look into different seat 

designs to reduce vibration exposure for workers in transportation.
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Our specialty consultants conducted 28 training sessions related to 

ergonomics and performed 70 ergonomic assessments for clients in the 

construction, utilities, and transportation industries. They also provided 

general MSD awareness training to IHSA’s Labour-Management Network 

(regional and trade/sector committees) and several chapters of the Fleet 

Safety Council.

Reduction in occupational disease
As part of IHSA’s prevention priority goal to reduce acute and future 

chronic diseases and illnesses from exposures to health hazards, our 

researchers and subject-matter experts collaborated with the Centre for 

Research Expertise in Occupational Disease (CREOD) to administer over 

200 surveys to participants in IHSA-led programs to measure baseline 

occupational health hazard awareness.

Department staff conducted occupational hygiene assessments for many 

IHSA member firms and provided general occupational health awareness 

training to IHSA’s Labour-Management Network (trade, sector, and regional 

committees) and several chapters of the Fleet Safety Council. Last October, 

the department conducted a seminar on the changes to WHMIS. Over 150 

participants attended, including Ministry of Labour representatives and 

IHSA’s CEO, Al Beattie. The department also collaborated with the MOL 

and the Ontario Association of Sewage Industry Services (OASIS) to hold 

two seminars for industry stakeholders related to infectious diseases in 

construction.

For the second year, the department gave a lecture to master’s students 

in the University of Toronto’s occupational hygiene program. A variety of 

topics relating to occupational health hazards and disease in construction 

were covered. The department also made a presentation at the Occupational 

Hygiene Association of Ontario’s (OHAO) annual spring symposium where 

over 50 health and safety professionals from various industries heard about 

occupational hygiene issues in the construction, transportation, and utilities 

industries.

Product development 
Our team of researchers and subject-matter experts provided technical 

support for many of the products IHSA developed in 2013. Highlights included

• Contributing to articles in the summer edition of IHSA.ca Magazine 

dedicated to fall hazards, a prevention priority goal

• Contributing to articles in the fall edition of IHSA.ca Magazine dedicated 

to struck-by hazards, a prevention priority goal

• Working with industry stakeholders to create the Low-Slope Roofing 

Health and Safety Manual (M070) 

• Working with Ministry of Labour representatives to develop the Best 

Practices for Building and Working Safely on Ice Covers in Ontario (IHSA029)

Staff also worked on prevention 
priority goal 12: Reduction in acute and 
future chronic diseases and illnesses 
from exposure to health hazards
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and OASIS on seminars related to 
infectious diseases in construction
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• Developing MSD hazard and control profiles for various trades as part 

of the goal to reduce MSDs. In 2013, MSD profiles were created for the 

following trades:

• Creating e-Learning tools as part of IHSA’s prevention priority goal to 

increase health and safety awareness among small firms. The topics 

covered are:

• Working on a number of products that are still in development, such as 

a Tunnelling Health and Safety Manual, a Boilermaker Health and Safety 

Manual, a Concrete Finishing Health and Safety Manual, and a Guideline 

for Working on or in Proximity to Photovoltaic Systems.

Information resources
The Research and Information Coordinator runs IHSA’s Resource Centre. 

This involves cataloguing and indexing, fulfilling information requests, 

conducting data searches, and circulating books, periodicals, videos, and 

DVDs. Highlights for 2013 were:

• Conducting literature searches on fall prevention training, asphalt fumes, 

gender and repetitive stress injuries, pregnancy and lifting, and pre-

employment screening

• Distributing 79 videos and DVDs to 17 internal and external clients

• Conducting a WSIB/WCB rate comparison between Ontario and other 

Canadian provinces and the US states of New York, Pennsylvania, Ohio, 

and Michigan

• Providing support for two studies funded by the IWH regarding leading 

indicators (OMP and OLIP)

• Expanding the database of construction-related coroner’s inquests

• Giving a presentation to inform staff about the new Resource Centre 

intranet

Duties also involve providing technical writing and editing services for new 

or revised training programs to ensure consistency and improve clarity 

and ease of reading for program participants. The following programs or 

initiatives were worked on in 2013. 

• Audit submission package for EPRI’s AP3 evaluations

• Customization of Basics of Supervising course for external client

• Revisions to Line Clearing —Safety and Awareness

• Revisions to Electrical Safety—Hydrovac Operators

• Revisions to Hoisting and Rigging

• Reprinting of Workplace Safety North’s Act and Regulations program.
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• Sprinklers

• Electricians

• Plumbers

• MSD Awareness for Construction

• MSD Awareness for Transportation

• Hearing Protection for Employers

• ICI Drywallers

• Elevator/Escalator Workers

• Workers in General Trucking

• Heat Stress

• WHMIS Review

IHSA’s Resource Centre contains 
health- and safety-related books, 
periodicals, videos, and DVDs

Researchers and subject-
matter experts provided 
technical support for many 
of the products IHSA 
developed in 2013
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The Programs and Strategic Development department is responsible for 

several key areas, including the Safety Groups and COR™ programs and 

facilitation of IHSA’s Strategic Plan.

IHSA’s Strategic Plan
Throughout 2013, the department oversaw the execution of the final year 

of IHSA’s three-year Strategic Plan. This plan, which began in 2011, was 

geared towards meeting and exceeding the recommendations of the Expert 

Advisory Panel and the requirements of Bill 160. IHSA staff allocated the 

time spent working toward accomplishing the goals outlined in the plan 

through the SafetyNet activity tracking system.

Safety Groups
Safety Groups is a program administered by the Workplace 

Safety and Insurance Board (WSIB). Companies join a 

Safety Group to share best safety practices, pool their 

experiences, and help one another with their prevention programs. Each 

member firm works toward achieving specific objectives and improving 

safety performance. 

In return, the WSIB treats each Safety Group as one large firm and applies 

an experience-rating formula to the group’s performance. If the group as 

a whole achieves a pre-set number of objectives, the WSIB rewards the 

group with rebates on top of the member firms’ usual experience-rating 

assessment. There are no penalties if the group doesn’t succeed. 

IHSA sponsors three Safety Groups: Construction, Electrical, and 

Transportation. In 2012 (results were received in 2013), IHSA’s Safety 

Groups were successful in reducing lost-time injuries and days lost in 

their workplaces. The Transportation Safety Group (TSG) was particularly 

successful in 2013 with a lost-time injury frequency rate of 0.68 per 200,000 

workers and a lost-time severity rate of 40.30 per 200,000 workers.*

IHSA’s Transportation Safety Group received a rebate in the amount of 

$3,935,518 for participating firms. The Construction Safety Group received 

a rebate of $542,488, and the Electrical Safety Group received a rebate of 

$364,098. Overall, it was another successful year for IHSA’s Safety Groups.

Programs and Strategic 
Development
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Paul Casey, VP of Programs and 
Strategic Development, at the 
2013 Safety Groups event

IHSA’s Transportation Safety Group 
received a rebate of $3.9 million 
from the WSIB

*The lost-time injury (LTI) frequency rate included only LTIs with more than 7 days lost time.
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Certificate of Recognition (CORTM)
With a history that goes back more than 20 years, COR™ is 

a well-established, Canada-wide certification program that 

assesses and assists in the development of a company’s 

health and safety management system. IHSA launched COR™ 

in Ontario in 2012 in order to raise the standard of injury and illness 

prevention across the province. 

IHSA is the “Authority having Jurisdiction” to grant COR™ in the province 

of Ontario. By achieving this national safety program accreditation in 

Ontario, IHSA is responsible for ensuring that the COR™ standards are 

upheld. With one common audit instrument used across Canada, the 

national standard is clear: minimum 65 per cent in each element and an 

overall audit score of 80 per cent.

 

COR™ provides you with a framework for integrating health and 

safety into day-to-day business operations, regardless of your sector. 

When you go through the process and achieve COR™ certification, 

you identify the gaps in your health and safety program and develop 

ways to fix them. You evaluate and improve your health and safety 

management system on an ongoing basis and implement controls for 

workplace hazards. This leads to safer working environment.

Since COR™ was launched in Ontario in 2012, 365 firms have registered 

for the program. In 2013, the following companies achieved COR™ 

certification.
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• Alberici Constructors Ltd. 

• Carillion Canada Inc. 

• CEDA-Reactor Canada LP 

• CentiMark Ltd. 

• Clearway Construction Inc. 

• Comstock Canada Ltd. 

• Dufferin Construction Company - 

Oakville 

• Ellis Don Corporation 

• Facca Incorporated 

• Ferrovial Agroman Canada Inc. 

• Geo-Foundations Contractors Inc. 

• Gibbs Wilson Contracting Inc. 

• Hydro One Networks Inc. 

• Maple Reinders Constructors Ltd. 

• Melloul-Blamey Construction Inc. 

• Mike Moore Construction Ltd. 

• Modern D.M.C. Mechanical Ltd. 

• Modern Gorlan Mechanical Ottawa 

• Modern Niagara Design Services 

• Modern Niagara Group Inc. 

• Modern Niagara Ottawa Inc. 

• Modern Niagara Toronto Inc. 

• Oldcastle Building Envelope 

• Ozz Electric Inc. 

• Percon Construction 

• Rescom Coatings Inc. 

• Siemens Canada Ltd - Energy/

Service Fossil 

• Sierra Construction (Woodstock) 

Limited 

• SNC Lavalin Construction Ontario Inc. 

• Sterling Crane Division 

• Timbro Design Build Contractors 

• Vector Corrosion Technologies Ltd. 

• Westlake Industries Inc. 

• Winroc 

• Worley Parsons Canada 

Six companies in the Modern 
Niagara Group received their CORTM 

Certification at IHSA’s 2013 AGM

IHSA launched 

COR™ in 2012 to 

raise the standard 

of injury and illness 

prevention in 

Ontario
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ZeroQuest® 
ZeroQuest® is a program that evaluates a firm’s health and safety 

management system and encourages continual development and 

improvement. The program is broken down into a series of levels. 

In 2013, the following firms reached a new level in the ZeroQuest® 

program:

The President’s Award
The first President’s Award was presented 37 years ago. Since then, the 

award has been considered one of the highest safety achievement awards 

in the industry. It represents consecutive years of performance without a 

lost-time injury and is based on milestones of 250,000 hours. In 2013, the 

following companies received the President’s Award.

Roy A. Phinnemore Award
The Roy A. Phinnemore Award is presented each year to an individual who 

has made significant contributions to health and safety. At the 2013 AGM, 

the award was presented to Mike Gallagher. Mike spearheaded numerous 

initiatives aimed at making construction sites safer in Ontario.

Gil Samson Award
The Gil Samson Award, first presented in 1988, recognizes the extraordinary 

achievements of a Labour-Management Health and Safety Committee.  

At the 2013 AGM, the award was presented to the Service Sector Labour-

Management Health & Safety Committee for developing the Service  

Sector Health and Safety Web Tool, which is currently available on the  

ihsa.ca website.
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Commitment	Level

Henkels & McCoy 

Canada Inc 

Effort	Level

Centre for Health and 

Safety Innovation

Riggs Distler 

Outcomes	Level

Innisfil Hydro

Wildon Wiring

Outcomes	II	Level

Burlington Hydro 

Greater Sudbury Hydro 

London Hydro 

Orillia Power 

Woodstock Hydro 

Outcomes	III	Level

Oshawa PUC 

Peterborough Utilities 

Group

Sustainability Level

EnWin Utilities

GridLink

Guelph Hydro Electric 

System

• Ground Aerial Maintenance

• Guelph Hydro 

• Oakville Hydro Electricity 

Distribution Inc.

• PowerTel Utilities Contractors

• Thunder Bay Hydro Electricity 

Distribution

• Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro Inc. 

• Orillia Power Distribution Corp

• Veridian Connections 

• London Hydro Inc.

• PowerStream Inc.

• Hydro Ottawa   

• Peterborough Utilities Group

Al Beattie presents a President’s 
Award and a ZeroQuest® Award 
to Guelph Hydro

Al Beattie presents a ZeroQuest® 
Award to Burlington Hydro

Al Beattie and Joe Redshaw present the 
Phinnemore Award to Mike Gallagher

Awards Programs
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IHSA Achievement Awards 
The Transportation Achievement Awards are given to member firms that 

have consistently operated with an injury frequency rate and cost-rate 

factor below their rate group average for three consecutive years. 

At the 2013 Annual General Meeting (AGM), the following awards were 

presented based on the firm’s record for 2010, 2011, and 2012.

Transportation sector
Category 1: 100,000 to 250,000 person hours and injury and cost-rate 

frequency 30% below rate group average

Category 2: 250,000 to 500,000 person hours and injury and cost-rate 

frequency 25% below rate group average

Category 3: 500,000 to one million person hours and injury and cost-

rate frequency 20% below rate group average

Category 4: Over one million person hours and injury and cost-rate 

frequency 15% below rate group average

Safe Driver/Safe Worker Awards
IHSA established the Safe Driver Award and the Safe Worker Award 

Programs for employers to recognize the health and safety 

performance of their employees. It’s a symbol of your company’s 

commitment to health and safety. In 2013, many companies 

continued to take part in these programs. Their efforts 

demonstrate that one person can make a difference. 
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• AMJ Campbell Van Lines – 

Markham

• BFI Canada Inc

• CEVA Logistics Canada, ULC

• Heritage Truck Lines Inc

• J D Smith & Sons Limited

• J F Kitching & Son Limited

• K-DAC Enterprises Inc

• Midland Transport Limited / 

Midland Courier

• Oxford Milkway Transport  

Co-Operative

• Thomson Terminals

• AMJ Campbell Van Lines Division

• Day & Ross Inc/Sameday 

Worldwide

• Erb International Inc

• Ryder Truck Rental Canada Ltd

• VersaCold Group Services ULC

• Contrans Services LP

• Day & Ross

• Greater Toronto Airport Authority

• Kriska Holdings Limited

• Kuehne + Nagel Ltd

• Midland Transport Limited

• Lafarge Canada Inc • Sunwing Airlines Inc

Al Beattie and Tim Holdaway 
present an Achievement Award 

to J F Kitching & Son (top) 
and Day & Ross/Sameday 

Worldwide (bottom)
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Finance developed 

the 2014-2015 

Business Plan and 

Funding Request for 

the MOL

Marketing and 
Finance 
In 2013, IHSA’s Marketing and Finance Department 

included Administration and Distribution, Business 

Systems and Information Technology, Customer 

Relations, and Marketing and Communications.

Administration	and	Distribution	
The Administration (Finance) department monitors 

the financial controls and ensures they are in 

accordance with the Broader Public Sector Accountability Act and other BPS 

directives as well as IHSA’s internal administration and operational policies. In 

2013, staff worked on a number of projects such as

• Implementing the 2013-2014 Transfer Payment Reporting Requirements

• Developing the 2014-2015 Business Plan and Funding Request for the MOL

• Ensuring that IHSA met its fiduciary responsibilities by performing the 

annual review of IHSA’s financial processes and procedures.

The Distribution department keeps IHSA’s products and training materials 

moving across Ontario. Staff members receive shipments into stock and print, 

pack, and distribute training materials to consultants and member firms. They 

also pack customer product orders and keep track of inventory.

In 2013, this department continued to reorganize the work area at our 

Voyager Court location in order to maximize storage space and manage 

inventory more efficiently. Thousands of customer orders were filled and 

shipped across the province.

Business	Systems	and	Information	Technology
IHSA uses many systems to support the major functional aspects of our 

business. The Business Systems and Information Technology team provides 

support, maintenance, and development services for these systems and 

manages the strategic direction of the company’s IT functions. 

The team had a very productive and dynamic year in 2013. They brought 

many large-scale projects to completion while continuing to provide top-level 

support to IHSA staff and training facilities. They designed and implemented 

a new firewall system for office locations and facilitated an IT audit.

The department was tasked with the responsibility for integrating IHSA’s 

back-office customer relationship management (CRM) systems and financial 

systems. Transitioning to the Microsoft Dynamics family of products, the team 

was able to interconnect product ordering, registration processing, inventory 
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CSRs went through 

eight weeks of 

training to learn 

the new customer 

relationship 

management 

(CRM) system

IT staff designed 

and launched 

IHSA’s SafetyNet 

activity- and 

expense–reporting 

system

management, and financial services. They designed and launched IHSA’s 

SafetyNet activity and expense reporting system, which also includes an 

event registration module. They also began the transition to  

SafetyNet for order processing.

Of special mention is the performance of the department during the 

flash flooding in the GTA last July. It was only through the hard work and 

dedication of IT staff that IHSA was able to recover from major flood 

damage to internal servers with less than 12 hours of system downtime.

Customer	Relations
Customer service is often the first point of contact for our 

members, and we value the opportunity to serve our customers 

and provide them with the best service to meet their needs. 

Our customer service team provides solutions and services to 

over 100,000 IHSA customers every year. Below is a summary of 

customer service activities for 2013.

Product Orders  ...........................................9,500

Training Certificates ................................40,406

CHSO Certificates  ......................................... 248

Telephone Calls Inbound ........................21,029

 Outbound  .................. 11,420

 Total .............................32,449

In order to improve service to our customers, IHSA implemented 

and launched a new customer relationship management (CRM) 

system in 2013. IHSA’s customer service team went through eight 

weeks of training to learn the new system and implemented new 

processes and procedures to increase efficiencies.

Marketing	and	Communications	
The Marketing and Communications Department is responsible for the 

production, design, and printing of IHSA’s many products and training 

materials. Through advertising channels and social media, staff members 

identify areas to promote and support. They design, maintain, and supply 

content for the IHSA website. The team also ensures that all internal and 

external communication adheres to IHSA’s branding standards and the 

IHSA Style Guide. 

New products for high-risk hazards
Marketing and Communications works with the Research, Education, 

and Specialty Consulting Department to produce manuals, guidelines, 

health and safety advisories, and more. The technical content for these 

publications is provided by project working groups, which are composed 

of IHSA subject-matter experts and knowledgeable volunteers from the 

industries we serve. The department helped produce many new products 

in 2013 that responded to the needs of our industries.
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As part of the MOL blitz on falls in September and October of 2013, roofing 

was identified as an area of high priority. Marketing and Communications 

worked closely with the Roofers Labour-Management Committee, 

representatives from the roofing industry, and the Ministry of Labour 

(MOL) to develop resources to protect both low-slope industrial and low-

rise residential roofers. The team helped produce a series of informational 

brochures:

• Roofers Safety Pamphlet (IHSA010)

• Hiring a Roofing Contractor: Tips for Homeowners (IHSA023)

• MSD Hazards and Controls for Low-Slope Roofers (IHSA024)

• Heat Stress Prevention for Roofers (IHSA025)

• Working at Heights and Fall Protection (IHSA026)

Staff also produced an informational flyer to help promote a series of safety 

awareness seminars for low-rise residential roofers that IHSA held across 

the province. The department arranged to mail the seminar flyer and the 

information brochures and to over 3,100 roofing firms across Ontario. 

In addition, the department worked with the Roofers Labour-Management 

Committee to produce the Low-Slope Roofing Health and Safety Manual 

(M070). This manual covers many of the hazards faced by low-slope roofers, 

such as falls from heights, MSDs from material handling and bending over, 

burns from hand-held torches and hot tar, electric shock from cables 

and powerlines, contact with hazardous substances, and exposure to the 

elements in the summer and winter.

Demolition has been a high-risk rate group for many years. Recently, however, 

firms in this sector have made big strides in reducing their injury rates and 

protecting their workers. Representatives of the demolition sector worked 

with IHSA to write a new health and safety manual for their workers. The 

Demolition Health and Safety Manual (M069) covers everything from the start 

of the bidding process through to the completion of a demolition job.

Over the years, there have been several serious incidents on construction 

sites caused by substandard temporary stairs. An article we published on 

that topic in the summer 2013 edition of IHSA.ca Magazine proved to be 

so popular with MOL and ESA inspectors, we were asked to reproduce it 

as a stand-alone brochure. This brochure, Temporary Stairs on Residential 

Construction Sites (IHSA027), was distributed to 18,000 electrical contractors 

as part of ESA’s Plugged In newsletter for October.

IHSA worked with the MOL to adapt the Government of Alberta’s Best 

Practices for Building and Working Safely on Ice Covers in Alberta into a 

document that could be used for workers in Ontario. The resulting manual, 

Best Practices for Building and Working Safely on Ice Covers in Ontario 

(IHSA029), is available for download on both the IHSA and the MOL websites. 

Marketing and 

Communications 

helped produce 

a series of 

informational 

brochures for

low-slope industrial 

and low-rise 

residential roofers
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The department worked with several Labour-Management committees in 

2013 to produce health and safety advisories on the following issues:

• Heat stress and Type 3 asbestos operations (W152)

• Gas line and sewer service line conflicts (W154)

• Working around roof openings and skylights (W250)

• Safe access to cooling towers and condensers (W251)

• Heavy equipment attachments (quick couplers) (W450)

• Hoisting portable toilets (W451)

• Boom extensions (jibs) detaching from mobile cranes (W452)

In addition, a research report was done on the visible and invisible 

consequences of electrical injury.

Product revisions
The department reviews IHSA’s products regularly to ensure that they remain 

current with legislation or industry best practices and updates material when 

appropriate. The following products were revised in 2013:

• Construction Health and Safety Manual (M029)—chapters on legal 

responsibilities, emergency procedures, confined spaces, and rodwork 

were updated

• Safety Talks Manual (V005)—25 new talks added

• Hydrovacs Safe Practice Guide (SPG4)—new content added 

• Call Before You Dig poster (P027)—updated with new information.

Marketing campaigns and promotional material
Marketing and Communications helps organize and participate in many 

events that help promote IHSA and spread the health and safety message. 

Staff design and create promotional material for these events. The following 

marketing material was produced in 2013:

• IHSA Training Catalogue (IHSA002)

• IHSA Product Catalogue (IHSA017)

• Transportation Courses for the Utility Sector catalogue 

(IHSA019)

• Transportation Courses for the Construction Sector catalogue 

(IHSA020)

• 2012 IHSA Annual Report

• COR™ Program Information Brochure (IHSA022)

• Postcards on Small Business and Independent Operators, Young 

Workers, and COR™ and e-Compliance.

The department also comes up with the creative concepts and 

material for promotional campaigns. One of these was a widespread 

provincial campaign to bring attention to the Day of Mourning on 

April 28. Staff developed a special four-page insert that was placed 

in newspapers across Ontario. As well, they created advertising 

banners to display on the website homepages of the Toronto Sun and the 

Ottawa Sun and a special splash page for IHSA’s website.
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The team 

developed creative 

concepts and 

promotional 

material for the 

Day of Mourning 

on April 28 
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Promotional material was distributed 

to over 12,000 visitors to IHSA’s photo 

booth at the CNE

Over 400 contractor safety kits 
were distributed during Contractor 

Appreciation Day 

For the Keep Your Promise poster campaign, over 5,000 free posters were 

distributed in 2013. The poster also ran in the Toronto Star, and a pull-out 

version of the poster was included in the winter edition of IHSA.ca Magazine. 

More versions of the poster are planned to promote the Keep Your Promise 

message.  

In order to reach a new audience and 

raise awareness about the hazards 

of working at heights, Marketing and 

Communications staff came up with the 

idea of putting a photo booth at the 2013 

Canadian National Exhibition. Over five 

days, more than 12,000 people visited 

IHSA’s booth to get a souvenir photo 

taken with friends and family. The photo 

showed visitors dressed like construction 

workers and protected by a guardrail with the Toronto 

skyline in the background. Staff members produced and helped 

distribute promotional material about working at heights and homeowners’ 

responsibilities when hiring a roofing contractor. IHSA consultants and MOL 

representatives helped get the message out by engaging with passersby to 

discuss the importance of health and safety at work.

As a way to reach out to small businesses and independent contractors, 

the department helped organize a Contractor Appreciation Day at 10 Home 

Depot locations across the province. An info booth was set up and IHSA 

consultants were on hand to answer questions and discuss issues related 

to health and safety. Visitors to the booth received a contractor safety kit 

containing information that would be helpful to small businesses.

To prepare for the release of the Working at Heights Training Standard, 

Marketing and Communications began to plan a publicity campaign in late 

2013 to increase public awareness. The campaign took place in early 2014 

and included a province-wide radio advertising campaign, a postcard mailing 

to 122,000 of our member firms, posters distributed through our Labour-

Management Network, and an issue of IHSA.ca Magazine dedicated to the 

standard.

Other promotional events that staff participated in during 2013 were

• Skills Ontario

• Future Building Conference

• Provincial Bldg. Trades Conference

• Construct Canada Conference

• CanaData Conference (Gold Sponsor)

• Fleet Safety Council Educational Conference (Platinum Sponsor)

• Ontario Truck Driving Championships (Sponsor)
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Advertising 

IHSA uses various advertising venues to increase our public presence 

and market our products and services to a broader audience. The 

department not only crafts the message and develops the advertising 

concept but also researches the demographics of various media 

outlets to ensure the message reaches the target audience. 

In 2013, our advertising efforts included

• Weekly advertising on Daily Commercial News Online (DCN Lite)

• Monthly advertising in ECAO’s 2014 calendar 

• Advertising in magazines and newspapers such as Home Builder, The 

Ontario Electrical Contractor, The Distributor, the Thunder Bay Chronicle, 

the Dryden Observer, and the Kenora Daily Miner

• Promoting IHSA products and services in the newsletters of organizations 

such as COCA, ECAO, OGCA, CSSE, ORGCA, the Ontario School Bus 

Association, and the Grand Valley Construction Association.

Training material
Marketing and Communications prepares IHSA’s training material for 

publication. In 2013, several programs were updated with new material and 

technical information. In addition, 25 training manuals were tailor-made to 

accommodate customized training programs. 

Since much of our training material was created using a variety of 

software programs, part of the department’s work involved not 

only rebranding the material but bringing it into a common layout 

program and creating a cohesive look and design. In the spirit 

of collaboration, the department also helped Workplace Safety 

North convert their Act and Regulations instructor and participant 

training material.

IHSA evaluates the return on investment (ROI) of many of our training 

programs using the Kirkpatrick/Phillips methodology. Marketing and 

Communications staff helped design, implement, and process surveys 

and questionnaires to measure the training outcomes of our courses.

Magazine
IHSA.ca Magazine is produced four times each year and is available at 

no charge to members. Each issue features valuable health and safety 

information, including prevention tips, safety checklists, personal stories, 

and enforcement blitz resources. 

We print 35,000 copies of each issue. We provide 9,300 magazines by 

subscription. More than 12,000 are distributed by IHSA consultants and 

the Labour-Management Network. The rest are distributed during training 

courses, trade shows and seminars, and at IHSA office displays. Back issues 

are also available to order through our website. 

Available for 
download 
at ihsa.ca

Each issue of IHSA.ca Magazine 
focused on prevention priorities

A publicity campaign was planned for 
the release of the Working at Heights 

Training Standard
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In 2013, each issue of the magazine centred on certain prevention priorities 

that are part of our three-year strategic plan. These included fall protection, 

struck-by injuries, powerline contact, the COR™ program, and the Working at 

Heights Training Standard.

The summer issue of IHSA.ca Magazine, which focused on falls and powerline 

contact, was our most popular issue to date. Even though we increased our 

print run to 42,000 copies, we still had to print 5,000 more. We received 

many compliments on this issue, most notably from Sophie Dennis, Deputy 

Minister of Labour. She requested extra copies for MOL inspectors to 

distribute at site visits during their blitz on falls in September and October.

Website
The ihsa.ca website has been a popular and powerful tool for disseminating 

health and safety information to our members as well as people around the 

world. The website receives approximately 40,000 visits each month. Around 

25,000 of our visitors are visiting for the first time and about 30,000 are from 

Ontario. 

We keep improving our website by adding more features every year. In 2013, 

the following sections were added:

• New topic pages were developed on Struck-by hazards and Slips, Trips, and 

Falls.

•  Statistical information for every IHSA rate group was made available on the 

Statistics and Research section under Industry Performance Data.

•  A Training Provider section was added, which outlined the new process 

to train industry trainers. Training Provider agreements and Instructor 

Application forms were made available online.

• A section was added for Small Business. It features the new IHSA My Health 

and Safety Program, an online tool to help you organize your health and 

safety policy and program.

• e-Learning programs were added for Small Business Certificates and 

Independent Operator Certificates:

• Developing Workplace Violence and Harassment Policies

• Incident Investigation

• PPE Awareness

• Workplace Hazards: Identification, Assessment and Control

• Workplace Inspections

The ihsa.ca website 

continues to be a 

popular and powerful 

tool for disseminating 

health and safety 

information to our 

members
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Social media
IHSA continues to experience great success with our social media outlets. 

Since January 2012 we’ve had a presence on Twitter and LinkedIn, and our 

followers have been growing steadily even since. 

At the end of 2013, IHSA had 1,273 followers on Twitter. We typically 

send out six to eight tweets each day regarding our programs, products, 

services, community outreach initiatives, and health- and safety-related 

news that would be beneficial to our members. We provide information 

and support during MOL blitzes, and we send out two safety talks each 

morning to encourage supervisors to give daily safety talks. Several of our 

safety talks were even retweeted by Brian Baeumler from HGTV.

In 2013, IHSA also added approximately 600 followers to our LinkedIn 

profile. Of those followers, 34 per cent are in senior positions and 27 per 

cent are in construction. It’s an effective tool for networking with industry 

leaders and our health and safety peers.

We’ve also extended our reach to members through our monthly 

e-mail newsletter, 2-Minute News. 2-Minute News is sent out in 

the middle of each month to over 20,000 subscribers. It presents 

health and safety news in a condensed and minimalist format that 

can be read in two minutes and easily accessed on smartphones. 

It’s a great way for our members to keep up with the latest health 

and safety information relevant to their industries.

IHSA Video
Marketing and Communications also helped produce a video 

designed to show who we are and what we do. Staff members 

travelled to several different locations and worked with many of 

our member firms that were generous enough to participate in 

this endeavour. 

From the rooftop of a skyscraper overlooking the city of Toronto, to 

working with aboriginal youth at Cambrian College in Sudbury, we 

were able to capture the dynamic spirit of our organization and the 

uniqueness of the services we offer. 

A special thanks to Clearway Construction, Dufferin Construction, 

First Student, Gezhtoojig Employment & Training, Ironworkers Local 

736, Journeyman, Midland Transport Group, PowerTel, Summit 

Window Services, and TransPro Freight Systems.
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The Market Development and Labour Relations Department is responsible 

for leveraging key relationships between IHSA, its stakeholders, 

governmental representatives, and groups that support the various 

industries IHSA represents. 

In 2013, the department was able to extend its market reach by engaging 

with new organizations who had not been using our health and safety 

services in the past. This was done through a variety of outreach projects 

and key engagement opportunities that enabled IHSA to demonstrate 

its commitment to helping protect Ontario’s workers, particularly those 

exposed to high-risk and high-hazard activities.

Home Depot Contractor Appreciation Day
In partnership with Marketing and Communications and with the help 

of IHSA consultants, the department helped organize a Contractor 

Appreciation Day at 10 Home Depot locations across the province. Seven 

were in the GTA, two were in Ottawa, and one was in southwestern Ontario. 

The strategy was to connect with small businesses and independent 

operators that haven’t traditionally worked with IHSA.

An information booth was set up and 428 Contractor Starter Safety Kits 

containing information to help keep workers safe on the jobsite were 

distributed. IHSA consultants answered a variety of health and safety 

questions, such as how to control hazards and be in compliance with the 

legislation. Of the hundreds of companies the consultants interacted with, 

82 per cent had no previous engagement with IHSA. 

Photo booth at the Canadian National Exhibition
Another initiative to bring the health and safety message to a new audience 

was an information and photo booth at the 2013 Canadian National 

Exhibition (CNE). As Canada’s largest annual public event and one of the 10 

largest fairs in North America, the CNE attracts more than a million visitors 

every year. The Market Development and Labour Relations Department 

helped organize this event to raise awareness about the hazards of working 

at heights and to inform homeowners about their responsibilities when they 

hire contractors to work on their homes or cottages.

Over five days, more than 12,000 people visited IHSA’s booth. Many came 

to get their souvenir photo taken with friends and family. The photo—

showing fair-goers protected by a guardrail with the Toronto skyline in the 

Market Development and 
Labour Relations

IHSA consultants distribute 
starter safety kits during 
Contractor Appreciation Day at 
various Home Depot locations

IHSA staff brings the safety 
message to fair-goers at the 
CNE photo booth 
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background—reminded everyone about the importance of health and 

safety at work so that everyone returns home safe to their loved ones. 

IHSA staff and Ministry of Labour inspectors were on hand, not only 

to promote the working at heights message but also to talk about 

worker rights and responsibilities as well as other safety-related topics. 

The booth was a pilot project with the Ministry of Labour to see if the 

outreach project would be accepted by visitors at the CNE. With all of 

the positive feedback and the involvement of the fair-goers, it would 

seem that this initiative will continue in the future.

Federal Labour Program Open House
For the second year in a row, the department helped organize a 

Federal Labour Program Open House. This event is an opportunity 

for IHSA to work with several partners while providing health and 

safety information to federally regulated firms. Though many of IHSA’s 

members are governed by provincial health and safety legislation, a 

significant number—mainly transportation and telecommunications 

firms—operate under federal laws. 

Due to the success and positive feedback from the 2012 open house, 

it was apparent that firms in this sector were interested in getting 

as much safety-related information for federally regulated firms as 

possible. An open house allows those firms to see more clearly just 

what the Labour Program is all about and helps them learn what they 

need to do to comply with the legislation.

At the 2013 event, experts from Human Resources and Skills 

Development Canada (HRSDC), Workplace Safety and Prevention 

Services (WSPS), and IHSA facilitated sessions on the following topics:

• Workplace violence

• Hazard prevention programs

• Ergonomics

• Employment standards (Part III of the Canada Labour Code)

• The Federal Intervention Model

• Forklift safety

• Transportation of dangerous goods

• WHMIS

• Material handling.

It was fitting that the open house was held during the annual North 

American Occupational Safety and Health (NAOSH) Week at the Centre 

for Health and Safety Innovation (CHSI). CHSI was jam-packed with a 

wide variety of representatives of federally regulated firms, all of whom 

were highly engaged in the sessions and open discussions.  This success 

bodes well for a continuation of the event in the years to come.

The Ministry of Labour helps 
promote safety at the CNE 

photo booth

The second-annual Federal Labour 
Program’s Open House held at 

CHSI was a big success
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IHSA Member Injury 
Performance for 2013
Twenty thirteen was a bittersweet year for IHSA member firms. On the 

positive side, the overall lost-time injury (LTI) rate for all IHSA rate groups 

(combined) continued to decline. As indicated in Table 1, there was an 

improvement of 7.2 per cent from 2012 to 2013. Unfortunately, this good 

news was tempered by a 50 per cent increase in the number of traumatic 

fatalities. The loss of so many workers has cast a dark shadow over any of 

the other accomplishments the industry achieved in 2013.

Table 1 shows the breakdown of the 2013 injury performance measures for all 

IHSA Rate Groups combined as compared with 2012. Of special note is the  

7 per cent increase in the number of full-time equivalent workers (FTEs), 

which shows the increase in industry activity.  

Workplace Fatalities

As mentioned earlier, although the injury rate decreased, traumatic fatalities 

among IHSA rate groups increased significantly in 2013. The 46 fatalities 

experienced by our member firms represent a 50 per cent increase in 

worker deaths in 2013 compared with 2012. 

The deaths of these 46 workers were attributed to the following causes:

• 18 workers died in motor-vehicle incidents (MVIs)

• 10 workers died from falling to a lower level

• 6 died from air crash-related causes

• 6 died from being struck by material or equipment

• 4 died from electrocution

• 1 died when a trench collapsed

• 1 died from “other” causes

Table	1:	Overall	Injury	Performance	in	IHSA	Rate	Groups

Performance	 2013	 2012	 %	Change

Total Injury Rate   5.22 5.39 -3.0%

Total Injury Count 34,677  33,345  4.0%

Traumatic Fatalities Count 

     Allowed 46  30     

     Pending 1  0   

LTI Rate 1.38 1.49 -7.2%

LTI Count 9,168  9,219  -0.6%

NLTI Count 25,463  24,096  5.7%

FTE  663,678   619,098  7.2%

Total Injury Rate takes into account the total number of lost-time injuries (LTIs) and
non-lost-time injuries (NLTIs) in relation to the total number of work hours reported.

Total Injury Count = LTIs + NLTIs + Traumatic Fatalities 

LTI Rate = (LTI Count/FTE) * 200,000

One third of 

fatalities in 2013 

were in General 

Trucking

The overall LTI rate 

for all IHSA rate 

groups combined 

decreased by 7.2 

per cent in 2013
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Firms in the transportation rate groups experienced 22 of the 46 total 

traumatic fatalities in 2013. General Trucking (Rate Group 570) had 15 

fatalities and 11 of those were MVI-related. Air Transport Industries (Rate 

Group 551) had 6 fatalities, all related to air crashes.

Firms in the construction rate groups experienced 23 of the 46 traumatic 

fatalities. Although these fatalities were spread across many rate groups, 

ICI Construction (Rate Group 723) had the highest number. Of these 23 

construction fatalities, 10 were the result of a fall to a lower level and 6 were 

from MVIs.

A review of the 46 employers who experienced a traumatic fatality in 

2013 shows that 27 of these firms had less than 20 employees, 5 firms had 

between 20 and 100 employees, and 14 firms had over 100 employees. 

Lost-time Injuries
There was very little change in the LTI count in 2013 as compared with 2012 

(a 0.6 per cent decrease). However, when you factor in the 7.2 per cent 

increase in hours worked (FTEs), IHSA member firms achieved a significant 

reduction of 7.2 per cent in the LTI rate. See Table 2 for a comparison of the 

lost-time injuries by main hazards from 2012 to 2013. 

The LTI count and LTI rate for musculoskeletal disorders (MSDs) decreased 

significantly in 2013 (5.7 per cent and 12.1 per cent respectively). This is even 

more impressive when you consider the significant decrease in both the 

MSD LTI count and rate in 2012 (5.8 per cent and 9.6 per cent respectively). 

Such a positive trend is a good indicator that increasing our efforts to 

reduce MSD injuries is having the desired effect. In fact, the MSD-related LTI 

rate is improving at a faster pace than the overall injury rate of all IHSA rate 

groups combined (12.1 per cent versus 7.2 per cent respectively in 2013). 

Unfortunately, the same improvements were not seen in fall-related injuries. 

In 2013, they increased by almost 11 per cent over 2012. Even when the 

increase in the number of hours worked (FTEs) is taken into account, the LTI 

rate for fall-related injuries in 2013 still increased by 3.4 per cent over 2012. 

A negative performance indicator such as this sends a strong message that 

we still have a lot of work to do in order to reduce falls in our industries. 

The number of

falls increased by

almost 11 per 

cent in 2013

The 46 fatalities in 

2013 represent a  

50 per cent increase 

over 2012
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As in 2012, injuries related to MVIs continued to climb in 2013. The LTI count 

from MVIs increased by 13 per cent in 2013, surpassing the 6.7 per cent 

increase in 2012. Similarly, the LTI rate from MVIs increased by 5.6 per cent 

in 2013, outpacing the 2.4 per cent in 2012. Our industries need to increase 

awareness about the high risk of MVIs, increase driver training, put safe 

driving practices in place, and reinforce these practices if we want to realize 

a positive change in the number and rate of MVI injuries.

Table 3 shows that although the LTI rate of injuries among young workers 

and new workers has remained relatively flat over the last year, the injury 

count has gone up, especially for new workers (9.7 per cent). This is 

disappointing considering the decrease in injury count for new workers 

two years ago (6 per cent reduction from 2011 to 2012). Our industries 

must continue to better prepare young and new workers for the workplace 

hazards and conditions they will encounter on the job and put controls in 

place to reduce those hazards.

Table 4 shows the top ten performing rate groups in terms of injury 

performance (LTI rate). The top three rate groups for 2013 are the same as 

for 2012. In fact, the entire top 10 remains the same, except that the order 

has changed between fourth and tenth place. Each rate group should be 

commended for their continued good performances. 

Table	2:	Lost-time	Injuries	by	Hazards

	 2013	 2012	 %	Change

Category	of	Injury	 LTI	Count	 LTI	Rate	 LTI	Count	 LTI	Rate	 LTI	Count	 LTI	Rate

MSDs   3,248   0.49   3,445   0.56  -5.7% -12.1%

Falls  238   0.04   280   0.05  -15.0% -20.7%

Contact with machinery  273   0.04   255   0.04  7.1% 2.7%

MVIs  369   0.06   326   0.05  13.2% 5.6%

Critical injuries   696   0.10   570   0.09  22.1% 13.9%

Contact with objects  
or equipment   2,380   0.36   2,505   0.40  -5.0% -11.4%

	 2012	 2011	 %	Change

	 Count	 Rate	 Count	 Rate	 Count	 Rate

New Worker  693   0.10   632   0.10  9.7% 2.3%

Young Worker  1,157   0.17   1,145   0.18  1.0% -5.7%

Table	3:	Lost-time	Injuries	by	Vulnerable	Workers

Although the rate of injuries 
among young and new workers 
remained almost the same, the 
injury count has gone up

Injuries from 

motor-vehicle 

incidents 

continued to 

rise in 2013
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High-impact Claims
Although lower back and shoulder injuries continue to be the most costly 

claims, as was the case in 2012, the decrease in both the count and rate of 

these injuries is a positive sign for IHSA member firms. The reduction in lower 

back and shoulder claims follow the decrease in MSD-related injuries as a 

whole in 2013. 

As indicated in Table 5, the number of lower back injuries in 2013 has declined 

by 3.7 per cent over 2012. This continues the downward trend from 2012 when 

the number of lower back injuries decreased by 8 per cent over 2011. The rate 

of lower back injuries has also decreased by more than 10 per cent each year 

since 2011. 

Unfortunately, the number of fractures has trended upward in 2013 compared 

with 2012. There was a 13.2 per cent increase in the number of fracture claims 

and a 5.6 per cent increase in the rate year over year. This is not surprising 

when you take into account the increase in the number of injuries caused by 

falls to a lower level in 2013, as noted earlier. These type of falls are most likely 

to result in a fracture. 

Overall, the statistics for high-impact claims 

represent a positive outcome for 2013. 

Although the number of high-impact claims 

increased by 1.6 per cent, the overall rate 

decreased by 5.2 per cent.

Rank	 Rate	Group	 2013	LTI	Rate

1 833 Electric Power Generation  0.10

2 838 Natural Gas Distribution  0.28 

3 835 Oil, Power and Water Distribution  0.52

4 704 Electrical and Incidentals  0.86 

5 584  School Buses  0.90 

6 723 ICI Construction 0.90

7 134 Aggregates  0.90 

8 711 Roadbuilding and Excavating  1.02 

9 830  Power and Telecommunication Lines  1.07 

10 707 Mechanical and Sheet Metal Work  1.14 

Table	4:	Top	Ten	Lowest	LTI	Rates	for	2013	

	 2013	 2012	 %	Change

	 Count	 Rate	 Count	 Rate	 Count	 Rate

Lower Back   1,621   0.24   1,684   0.27  -3.7% -10.2%

Shoulder   621   0.09   648   0.10  -4.2% -10.6%

Fractures  1,248   0.19   1,102   0.18  13.2% 5.6%

Total HI Claims   3,490   0.53   3,434   0.55  1.6% -5.2%

Table	5:	High-impact	Claims

The MSD rate 

decreased by 12 

per cent in 2013

The decrease in 

MSD injuries led 

to a reduction of 

lower back and 

shoulder claims

For more detailed information on the performance of each rate group, visit the 
Statistics	and	Research section at ihsa.ca
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The following sections provide information about fatal and non-fatal 

occupational diseases for IHSA’s membership as a whole. 

Fatal Occupational Disease
The number of fatalities caused by occupational diseases is shown in  

Table 1. From 2003 to 2011, 513 fatal occupational disease claims among 

IHSA member firms were accepted by the Workplace Safety and Insurance 

Board (WSIB). Many of these deaths were caused by mesothelioma, lung 

cancer, gastrointestinal cancer, and asbestosis. All of these diseases are 

associated with asbestos exposure.

Because there can be a time lag of more than one year between the filing 

of an occupational disease claim (fatal and non-fatal) and its approval by 

the WSIB, the number of fatalities in 2011 is expected to increase. A more 

detailed breakdown of occupational diseases can be found at: 

ihsa.ca/occupational_health

Occupational Disease

Table 1: Fatal Occupational Disease Claims by Industry

Industry 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 Total

Construction Rate Groups

(134, 497, 704, 707, 711, 719, 723, 728, 732, 

737, 741, 748, 751, 764)

44 55 53 46 57 72 56 38 40 461

Electrical & Utility Rate Groups  

(830, 833, 835, 838)
1 2 0 1 3 5 5 1 3 21

Transportation Rate Groups 

(551, 553, 560, 570, 577, 580, 584, 681, 689)
2 6 4 4 4 4 3 2 2 31

Total 47 63 57 51 64 81 64 41 45 513
 
Source: Workplace Safety and Insurance Board (WSIB)

Table 2: Fatal Occupational Disease Claims by Diagnosis

Construction 2003–11 Electrical & Utility 2003–11 Transportation 2003–11

Mesothelioma 230 Mesothelioma 10 Mesothelioma 14

Lung Cancer 136 Lung Cancer 7 Lung Cancer 6

Gastrointestinal Cancer 24 Other 4 Acute Myocardial Infarction 4

Asbestosis 24 Other 7

Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary 

Disorder (COPD)

12

Acute Myocardial Infarction 7

Other 28

Total 461 21 31
 
Source: Workplace Safety and Insurance Board (WSIB)

Diseases linked to 

asbestos exposure 

remain the top 

fatal occupational 

diseases among 

IHSA member 

firms

Note: See page 5 for a complete list of IHSA Rate Groups.
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Table 3: Non-Fatal Occupational Disease Claims by Industry

Industry 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 Total

Construction Rate Groups

(134, 497, 704, 707, 711, 719, 723, 728, 732, 

737, 741, 748, 751, 764)

790 686 846 973 1,083 1,197 1,188 1,230 1,102 9,095

Electrical & Utility Rate Groups  

(830, 833, 835, 838)
88 85 92 116 108 136 139 162 165 1,091

Transportation Rate Groups 

(551, 553, 560, 570, 577, 580, 584, 681, 689)
281 277 278 335 341 354 382 439 417 3,104

Total 1,159 1,048 1,216 1,424 1,532 1,687 1,709 1,831 1,684 13,290
 
Source: Workplace Safety and Insurance Board (WSIB)

Table 4: Non-Fatal Occupational Disease Claims by Diagnosis

Construction 2003–11 Electrical & Utilities 2003–11 Transportation 2003–11

Noise-Induced Hearing Loss (NIHL) 4,581 NIHL 468 NIHL 1,460

Signs and Symptoms 1,029 Toxic Effects 180 Signs and Symptoms 713

Hand-Arm Vibration Syndrome (HAVS) 984 Signs and Symptoms 150 Toxic Effects 316

Toxic Effects 555 Dermatitis 140 Dermatitis 199

Pleural Plaques 434 Pleural Plaques 22 Allergic Reaction 87

Dermatitis 420 HAVS 22 Heat Exhaustion 80

Heat Exhaustion 284 Allergic Reaction 17 Other Respiratory 

Diseases

57

Asbestosis 143 Heat Exhaustion 16 Asthma 33

Other Respiratory Diseases 112 Other Skin & Tissue 

Disease

13 Other Nervous/Sense 

Organ Diseases

30

Allergic Reactions 97 Other Respiratory 

Diseases

12 Other Skin and Tissue 

Diseases

24

Other 456 Other 51 Other 105

Total 9,095 1,091 3,104
 
Source: Workplace Safety and Insurance Board (WSIB)

Note: See page 5 for a complete list of IHSA Rate Groups.
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Noise-induced 
hearing loss

Noise-induced hearing loss 

(NIHL) is the number-one 

cause of allowed non-

fatal occupational disease 

claims among all IHSA 

member firms. It represents 

almost 49% of all non-fatal 

occupational diseases 

allowed by the WSIB. From 

2003 to 2011, the number of 

NIHL claims has increased 

by 70%, 133%, and 123% 

in the construction, 

electrical and utilities, and 

transportation industries, 

respectively.   

Chart 1: Construction Rate Groups – Noise-Induced Hearing Loss (2003-2011)

Chart 2: Electrical & Utility Rate Groups – Noise-Induced Hearing Loss (2003-2011)

Chart 3: Transportation Rate Groups – Noise-Induced Hearing Loss (2003-2011)Noise-induced hearing 

loss (NIHL) is the 

number-one non-fatal 

occupational disease 

for IHSA members
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BDO Canada LLP 
60 Columbia Way, Suite 300 
Markham ON  L3R 0C9  Canada 

2
BDO Canada LLP, a Canadian limited liability partnership, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, and forms part of the 
international BDO network of independent member firms. 

Independent Auditor's Report 

To the Members of 
Infrastructure Health & Safety Association 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Infrastructure Health & Safety Association, 
which comprise the balance sheet as at December 31, 2013, and the statements of operations, changes in 
net assets (deficiency) and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor's Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that 
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal 
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of  
Infrastructure Health & Safety Association as at December 31, 2013, and the results of its operations and its 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit 
organizations. 

Chartered Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

Markham, Ontario 
March 26, 2014 

BDO Canada LLP, a Canadian limited liability partnership, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK 
company limited by guarantee, and forms part of the international BDO network of independent member firms.
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3

Infrastructure Health & Safety Association
Balance Sheet 

December 31 2013  2012 

(Note 2)
Assets
Current 

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 5,733,452  $ 2,223,321  
Short term investments  (Note 3)  4,273,028   4,251,796 
Accounts receivable  1,539,565   894,418  
Inventory  333,536   391,660 
Current portion of prepaid 

rent and deposits (Note 4)  268,233   180,334 

  418,741,21   7,941,529 

Prepaid rent and deposits (Note 4)  447,873   486,631 
Long term investments  (Note 3)  5,900,000   6,398,653 
Investment in CHSI (Note 5)   179,957   629,303 
Capital assets (Note 6)  970,026   1,325,779 

$ 20,225,684  $ 16,781,895 

Liabilities and Net Assets (Deficiency) 
Current 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 2,516,951  $ 2,544,023 
Current portion of deferred revenue (Note 7)  40,456   198,333 
Customer deposits  311,596   289,774 

  300,968,2   3,032,130 

Deferred revenue (Note 7)   512,472   312,100 
Deferred capital contributions (Note 8)   021,236   929,710 
Employee future benefits (Note 9)   007,110,61   18,088,200 

  830,787,91   22,362,140 

Net assets (deficiency) 
Invested in capital assets  337,906   415,737  
Internally restricted for CHSI capital  

expenditures (Note 10)  298,193   167,525  
Unrestricted  (197,453)   (6,163,507) 

 438,646   (5,580,245) 

$ 20,225,684  $ 16,781,895  

On behalf of the Executive Board: 

 Director 

 Director 
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4

Infrastructure Health & Safety Association 
Statement of Operations 

For the year ended December 31 2013         2012

(Note 2)
Revenue 

Workplace Safety & Insurance Board and 
Ministry of Labour funding (Note 11) $ 25,502,642  $ 24,387,575  

Training and publication recoveries   6,350,870   5,837,045  
Amortization of deferred rent funding (Note 7)  37,885   37,885  
Amortization of deferred capital contributions (Note 8)  297,590   305,597  
Interest income  68,391   61,101  
Share of income from Centre for Health and Safety  

Innovation (CHSI) (Note 5)  130,668   97,635 
Sundry revenue  157,090   126,621 

 32,545,136   30,853,459 

Expenditures 

Advertising and promotion  85,506   78,142  
Amortization of capital assets  375,421   389,107  
Employee benefits  5,415,059   4,890,504  
Equipment and maintenance  728,479   438,051 
Occupancy  3,025,596   3,144,241  
Office and general   947,401   104,010 
Personnel costs  177,013   291,031  
Postage and courier  175,250   164,118  
Professional fees  382,833   498,985 
Program delivery expenses   442,475,1   1,500,915 
Research and library costs   686,12   30,039 
Salaries  15,229,146   15,087,055  
Supplies and services  97,947   138,363 
Telecommunications   015,561   169,082 
Travel and vehicle  1,754,306   1,967,522 

 29,312,745   28,891,165 

  193,232,3 $ serutidnepxe revo eunever fo ssecxE $ 1,962,294 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Infrastructure Health & Safety Association 
Statement of Changes in Net Assets (Deficiency) 

For the year ended December 31 2013         2012   

 yllanretnI  
 detcirtseR  
 ISHC rof detsevnI 
 latipaC latipaC ni 

 latoT detcirtsernU serutidnepxE stessA Total

Net assets (deficiency), 
beginning of year, as  
previously stated $ 415,737 $ 167,525 $ 812,193 $ 1,395,455  $ (79,239)  

Change in accounting policy 
(Note 2)  -  -  (6,975,700)  (6,975,700)   (5,499,200)  

Net assets (deficiency),
beginning of year, as restated  415,737  167,525  (6,163,507)  (5,580,245)   (5,578,439)  

Excess (deficiency) of revenue 
over expenditures  (77,831)  130,668  3,179,554  3,232,391   1,962,294  

Employee future benefits 
remeasurement (Note 9)  -  -  2,786,500  2,786,500   (1,964,100)  

Net assets (deficiency), 
end of year $ 337,906 $ 298,193 $ (197,453) $ 438,646  $ (5,580,245) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Infrastructure Health & Safety Association 
Statement of Cash Flows 

For the year ended December 31 2013         2012 

(Note 2)

Cash provided by (used in): 

Operating activities 
Excess of revenue over expenditures $ 3,232,391  $ 1,962,294  
Adjustment to reconcile excess of revenue over expenditures 

to net cash provided by operating activities 
Amortization of deferred capital contributions  (297,590)   (305,597) 

 Amortization of capital assets  375,421   389,107 
 Share of income from Centre for Health and  
 Safety Innovation  (130,668)   (97,635)  

Employee future benefits expense (Note 9)  1,355,000   1,235,800 
 Employee future benefits paid (Note 9)  (645,000)   (611,700) 
Changes in non-cash working capital balances 
 Accounts receivable  (645,147)   207,418  
 Inventory   421,85   (983) 
 Prepaid rent and deposits  (49,141)   (155,448) 
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  (27,072)   (764,752) 
 Deferred revenue  (195,762)   109,150 
 Customer deposits  21,822   143,907 

 3,052,378   2,111,561 

Investing activities 
Purchase of capital assets  (19,668)   (654,991) 
Decrease (increase) in investments (net)   124,774   (4,162,945) 

  357,754   (4,817,936) 

Financing activities 
Contributions received for capital expenditures  -   406,467 

Net change in cash  3,510,131   (2,299,908) 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  2,223,321   4,523,229 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 5,733,452  $ 2,223,321 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Infrastructure Health & Safety Association 
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2013 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

a. Nature and Purpose 
of Organization Infrastructure Health & Safety Association (IHSA or the 

"Association") was formed on January 1, 2010 by amalgamating 
Construction Safety Association of Ontario, Electrical & Utilities 
Safety Association and Transportation Health & Safety 
Association of Ontario. IHSA is a not-for-profit occupational 
health and safety organization providing health and safety 
training material and services to Ontario's  construction, 
electrical and utilities and transportation industries.  IHSA 
assists organizations achieve safer and healthier work 
environments by identifying and reducing workplace risks and 
hazards to prevent and reduce workplace injuries, illness and 
disease. The Association's mission is to develop sector specific 
partnerships and support their implementation of prevention 
solutions that provide continuous improvement in health and 
safety performance.  

 morf tpmexe si noitaicossA ehT tax under Section 149(1)(I) of the 
Income Tax Act. 

b. Basis of Accounting The Association has prepared its financial statements in 
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit 
organizations ("ASNPO"). 

c. Revenue Recognition The Association follows the deferral method of accounting for 
funding.  Restricted funding from the Ministry of Labour (MOL), 
Workplace Safety and Insurance Board (WSIB) and other 
government Ministries is deferred and recognized as revenue 
when the related expenses are incurred.  Course and seminar 
recoveries are recognized as revenue when services are rendered 
and there is reasonable assurance of collection.  Safety product 
recoveries relating to inventory are recognized as revenue when 
goods are shipped and there is reasonable assurance of 
collection.  Unrestricted funding is recognized as revenue when 
received or receivable. Funding received for capital expenditures 
is deferred and recognized as revenue on the same basis as 
amortization of the related assets.

Interest income is recognized on a time proportion basis.

d. Cash and Cash 
Equivalents Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, balances with 

the Association's bank and highly liquid investments with original 
maturity dates of three months or less at the date of acquisition.
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Infrastructure Health & Safety Association 
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2013 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

e. Contributions  
Receivable Contributions receivable are recognized as an asset when the 

amounts to be received can be reasonably estimated and 
ultimate collection is reasonably assured.

f. Capital Assets Capital assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortization. 
Amortization is provided on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful life of the assets as follows:

Computer equipment 3 years 
Computer software 3 years 
Emergency response equipment 5 years 
Furniture and fixtures 5 years 
Leasehold improvements Term of the lease 

Acquisitions less than $5,000 are expensed in operations. 

g. Inventory Course and seminar inventory is valued at the lower of cost and 
net realizable value and are expensed in program delivery 
expenses. Cost is determined on an average cost basis.

h. Employee Future 
Benefits The Association provides certain non-pension post retirement 

benefits consisting of extended health and other benefits.  The 
defined benefit obligation is based on the most recent actuarial 
valuation report prepared for accounting purposes.

The amount reported on the balance sheet is the difference 
between the defined benefit obligation and the fair value of plan 
assets less any valuation allowance.  Remeasurements and other 
items are charged to net assets as they occur. 

i. Financial Instruments  Financial instruments are recorded at fair value when acquired 
or issued.  All investments in money market funds, bonds and 
guaranteed investment certificates are recorded at amortized 
cost. All other financial instruments are reported at cost or 
amortized cost less impairment, if applicable.  Financial assets 
are tested for impairment when changes in circumstances 
indicate the asset could be impaired.  Transaction costs on the 
acquisition, sale or issue of financial instruments are expensed 
for those items remeasured at fair value at each statement of 
financial position date and charged to the financial instrument 
for those measured at amortized cost.
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Infrastructure Health & Safety Association 
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2013 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

j. Pension Plan The Association's contributions to a multi-employer, defined 
contribution pension plan are expensed when contributions are 
due.

k. Investment in Centre 
for Health and 
Safety Innovation The Association is a founding member of Centre for Health and 

Safety Innovation ("CHSI"), a not for profit corporation that 
provides shared premises for the Association and one other 
Ontario health and safety organization.  Under its membership 
agreement, the Association paid a fee of 25.64% of the start up 
and operating costs of CHSI up to December 31, 2006.  

The Association records its payment of the initial costs of CHSI, 
and its proportionate share of annual operating results on the 
equity basis.

l. Impairment of  
Long-Lived Assets The Association monitors events and changes in circumstances 

which may require an assessment of the recoverability of its long 
lived assets. If required, the Association would assess 
recoverability using estimated future undiscounted operating 
cash flows.  If the carrying amount of an asset is not 
recoverable, an impairment loss is recognized in operations, 
measured by comparing the carrying amount of the asset to its 
discounted cash flow value.

m. Use of Estimates The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with 
Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and 
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ 
from management's best estimates as additional information 
becomes available in the future.

2013 IHSA Annual Report    63



Auditor’s Report

10 

Infrastructure Health & Safety Association 
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2013 

2. Change in Accounting Policy 

Effective January 1, 2013 the Association early adopted the provisions of the CPA Canada 
Handbook - Accounting Part III - Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit 
organizations Section 3463 - Reporting Employee Future Benefits by Not-for-Profit 
Organizations on a retrospective basis.  The Association adopted the immediate recognition 
method relating to employee future benefits and adopted to recognize the remeasurement 
of the employee future benefits liability as a separately identified line item in the 
statement of changes in net assets rather than in the statement of operations. 

A reconciliation of the excess of revenue over expenditures reported in the Association's 
financial statements to its excess of revenue over expenditures under the immediate 
recognition method for the same period is as follows: 

 2012

Excess of revenue over expenditures, as previously stated $ 1,474,694  
Decrease in employee benefits due to recognition of remeasurement of 

employee future benefits directly in statement of changes in net assets  487,600 

Excess of revenue over expenditure for the year ended, restated $ 1,962,294  

As a result, the financial statement amounts that are presented for comparative purposes 
have been restated as follows: 

 Increase in employee future benefits $ 6,975,700  
  Decrease in unrestricted net assets  $ 6,975,700  
 Decrease in employee benefits $ 487,600  
 Increase in revenue over expenditures $ 487,600  
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Infrastructure Health & Safety Association 
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2013 

3. Investments 

Investments consist of $597,455 (2012 - $540,614) in Canadian money market funds and the 
remaining amount in bonds and guaranteed investment certificates earning interest with 
rates ranging from 1.45% to 5.57% (2012 - 1.25% to 5.57%) annually and maturing between 
January 28, 2014 and June 21, 2017 (2012 - January 28, 2013 and September 14, 2015). 

2013 2012

Investments at amortized cost  $ 10,173,028  $ 10,650,449 
Amounts maturing within one year  4,273,028   4,251,796 

$ 5,900,000  $ 6,398,653 

At December 31, 2013, the market value of the investments was $10,173,058 
(2012 - $10,671,770). 

4. Prepaid Rent and Deposits
2013 2012

Deposit on Voyageur Court premises $ 135,212  $ 135,212 
Deposit on Skills Development Centre premises  25,000   25,000 
Unamortized portion of prepaid rent  274,659   312,544 
Deposit on CHSI premises  50,885   50,885  
January's premises rent  159,137   140,949 
Other  71,213   2,375 

 716,106   666,965 
less:  current portion  268,233   180,334 

$ 447,873  $ 486,631 

The unamortized prepaid rent resulted from contributions to the Association for the Skills 
Development Centre location to help meet the rent payment obligations.  These 
contributions were paid to the landlord as a prepayment of rent in order to reduce the 
monthly rent payments and are amortized into expenses over the term of the lease 
agreement. 
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Infrastructure Health & Safety Association 
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2013 

5. Investment in Centre for Health and Safety Innovation 
The Centre for Health and Safety Innovation (CHSI) is a not-for-profit organization, 
incorporated under the laws of the province of Ontario on September 8, 2004 whose purpose 
is to create a focal point for innovation and applied learning in the prevention of workplace 
injuries and illnesses and to act as a key resource for employers, employees and others 
seeking expertise and direction on how to make workplaces safer.  The organization is 
exempt from income taxes under Section 149(1)(I) of the Income Tax Act. 

In addition to the Association, CHSI's members include Workplace Safety and Prevention 
Services.  The Infrastructure Health and Safety Association maintains a 25.64% share in CHSI 
while the Workplace Safety and Prevention Services maintains a 74.36% share. 

The most recent audited financial statements at December 31, 2013 of Centre for Health & 
Safety Innovation as reported on by another firm of accountants with a report date of March 
17, 2014 reflect the following: 

CHSI IHSA 
25.64% share 

Assets  029,317,3 $  $ 952,249 
Liabilities  749,916   192,278 

Net assets $ 2,964,004  $ 759,971 

Operating results (year ended December 31, 2013): 

Revenue $ 4,927,603  $ 1,263,437 
Expenses (operating)  4,358,495   1,117,518 

Excess of revenue over expenses  569,108   145,919 
Expenses (transfer to replacement reserve)  (59,482)   (15,251) 

Increase in net assets $ 509,626  $ 130,668 

Cash Flows: 
Operating  789,459 $  $ 244,859 
Financing  )000,022(    (56,408) 
Investing  )289,811(    (30,507) 

Increase in cash during year $ 616,005  $ 157,944 

   :fo stsisnoc tnemtsevnI 2013 2012 

Balance, beginning of year $ 629,303  $ 531,668 
Proportionate share of excess of revenue over expenses  130,668   97,635 

Balance, end of year $ 759,971  $ 629,303  
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Infrastructure Health & Safety Association 
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2013 

6. Capital Assets 
3102  2102 

detalumuccA    Accumulated
Cost  Amortization Cost Amortization

Computer equipment $ 43,052 $ 43,052  $ 43,052  $ 43,052 
Computer software  65,963  65,963   65,963   65,963 
Emergency response  

equipment  998,988  866,028   998,988   759,753 
Furniture and fixtures  486,642  277,181   466,974   207,901 
Leasehold improvements  1,322,770  695,165   1,322,770   495,299 

$ 2,917,415 $ 1,947,389  $ 2,897,747  $ 1,571,968 

Net book value $ 970,026  $ 1,325,779  
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Infrastructure Health & Safety Association 
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2013 

7. Deferred Revenue 

Deferred revenue represents unspent funds from the WSIB and other funded programs 
reflected under the Skills Development Centre.  The changes in the deferred operating 
funding balances are as follows: 

 sllikS 
 tnempoleveD Total Total

ertneC WSIB 2013 2012

Balance, beginning of year $ 324,985 $ 185,448 $ 510,433  $ 401,283 
Additional funding (Note 11)  -  -  -   300,000 
Amortization of deferred rent 

funding  (37,885)  -  (37,885)   (37,885) 
Expenditures  -  (157,877)  (157,877)   (152,965) 

 287,100  27,571  314,671   510,433 
Current portion  37,885  2,571  40,456   198,333 

$ 249,215 $ 25,000 $ 274,215  $ 312,100 

The long-term portion relates to funds contributed to the Association for the Skills 
Development Centre location to help meet the rent payment obligations.  These 
contributions were paid to the landlord as a prepayment of rent in order to reduce the 
monthly rent payments and are amortized into revenue over the term of the lease 
agreement. 

The long-term portion also includes $12,411 (2012 - $12,441) relating to future capital 
expenditures for the Skills Development Centre location. 

8. Deferred Capital Contributions 

Deferred capital contributions represent the unamortized amount and unspent amount of  
contributions received for the purchase of capital assets. 

2013 2012

Balance, beginning of year $ 929,710  $ 828,840  
Contributions received for capital expenditures (Note 11)  -   350,000  
Other contributions received for capital expenditures  -   56,467  
Amortization of deferred capital contributions  (297,590)   (305,597) 

Balance, end of year $ 632,120  $ 929,710  

The balance of deferred capital contributions consists of the following: 
2013 2012

Unspent contributions for capital expenditures $ -  $ 19,668  
Unamortized deferred capital contributions  632,120   910,042 

$ 632,120  $ 929,710  
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Infrastructure Health & Safety Association 
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2013 

9. Employee Future Benefits 
The Association provides extended health care, dental and life insurance benefits to all 
full-time employees upon retirement to the age of 65, with the following exceptions: 

1) For former Electrical & Utilities Safety Association employees, these benefits extend to 
age 65 for employees hired subsequent to January 1, 2003.  Benefits may be extended 
beyond age 65 at the discretion of the employee and the assumption of 50% of the cost 
by the employee.  For employees hired prior to 2003, benefits extend for the employee's 
lifetime. 

2) For former Construction Safety Association of Ontario employees, no future benefits are 
provided for employees hired subsequent to August 1, 2001.  For employees hired prior 
to August 1, 2001, benefits extend for the employee's lifetime. 

In addition to the extended health care, dental and life insurance benefits, the Association 
also provides exit benefits to employees in accordance with the Association's policy. 

The cost of these benefits are recognized on an accrual basis under CPA Canada 
Handbook - Accounting section 3463. The defined benefit obligation relating to 
post-retirement benefit plans as at December 31 is as follows: 

2013 2012 

 (Note 2) 

Defined benefit obligation, beginning of year $ 16,124,100  $ 15,500,000  
Current service cost  575,500   490,800  
Interest cost on obligation  779,500   745,000 

 17,479,100   16,735,800  
Benefit payments  (645,000)   (611,700) 

Defined benefit obligation, end of year  16,834,100   16,124,100  
Cumulative amounts recognized in statement of changes 

in net assets  (822,400)   1,964,100 

Employee future benefits $ 16,011,700  $ 18,088,200  

Benefit plan expense 
Current service cost $ 575,500  $ 490,800  
Interest on defined benefit obligation  779,500   745,000 

Net benefit plan expense $ 1,355,000  $ 1,235,800  

The latest actuarial valuation of the post-retirement benefit plans was prepared as at 
December 31, 2013.  The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring the 
Association's defined benefit obligations are as follows:   

 )%52.4 - 2102( %00.5 etar tnuocsiD
 )%0.5 - 2102( munna rep %0.5 esaercni erac htlaeH
 )%0.3 - 2102( munna rep %0.3 esaercni erac latneD
 )%5.4 - 2102( munna rep %5.4 esaercni yralaS
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Infrastructure Health & Safety Association 
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2013 

10. Internally Restricted Fund for CHSI Capital Expenditures 

The Board approved setting up an internally restricted fund at December 31, 2012 for the 
Association's share of future capital expenditures relating to CHSI.  The fund was 
designated based on a reserve fund study performed on CHSI in 2011.  In the current year, 
the Association allocated $130,668 (2012 - $97,635) to this fund and transferred $Nil 
(2012 - $69,890) from unrestricted surplus.  These amounts represent the Association's 
share of CHSI's replacement reserve fund. 

11. Workplace Safety & Insurance Board / Ministry of Labour Funding  

2013 2012 

WSIB funding consists of the following: 

Approved original funding allocation $ -  $ 6,145,670  
Add: additional funding for special projects (Note 7)  -   300,000  
Less: deferred revenue  -   (160,448)  
Add: deferred revenue taken into revenue  157,877   - 

 157,877   6,285,222 

MOL funding consists of the following: 

Approved original funding allocation  24,878,582   18,452,353  
Add: supplemental funding relating to increase in WSIB 
 defined contribution pension plan rates  466,183   -  
Less: capital funding (Note 8)  -   (350,000) 

 25,344,765   18,102,353 

$ 25,502,642  $ 24,387,575  

12. Commitments 

The Association has operating leases for various office premises and equipment with 
minimum annual payments to non-related parties as follows: 

 tnuomA raeY  

  000,150,1 $ 4102
  000,039  5102
  000,826  6102
  000,973  7102
  000,973  8102
 000,258  retfaerehT

  000,912,4 $ 
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Infrastructure Health & Safety Association 
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2013 

13. Pension Plan 

 Employees belong to the WSIB Employee's Superannuation Plan, a defined contribution plan 
with employer contributions in the year amounting to $2,195,421 (2012 - $1,752,943) which 
are included in employee benefits expense.

14. Related Party Transactions 

The Association subleases its premises from Centre for Health & Safety Innovation (CHSI) 
and pays their proportionate rental area share of the operating costs.  Any surplus 
(deficiency) in CHSI will be shared by the members based on their proportionate rentable 
areas (see also Note 5).  During the year, CHSI charged rental and operating costs of 
$961,013 (2012 - $1,072,421). These transactions are in the normal course of business, and 
are measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration established 
and agreed to by the related parties, and approximates the arm's length equivalent value.  

Minimum annual rental lease payments are as follows: 

 tnuomA raeY  

  000,132 $ 4102
  000,332  5102
  000,332  6102
  000,332  7102
  000,442  8102
 000,335  retfaerehT

  000,707,1 $ 

15. Funding and Net Assets

The MOL's "Surplus Investment Policy" with an effective date September 18, 2013 was 
adopted by the Association. The policy states that the Association's operations are not to 
result in a deficit position at the end of any government fiscal year.  The amount of surplus 
that is eligible to be retained by the Association will be maximum of 6% of the previous 
year's audited total actual revenue including government transfer payments.  Any amount 
in excess of the 6% maximum amount may be recovered by MOL in the following year 
through reduction of transfer payment funding.  

Surplus funds must be used to support MOL's commitment to enhance health and safety in 
Ontario workplaces.  No surplus funds can be used without written approval from MOL.  
MOL will notify the Association in writing in a timely manner regarding decisions related to 
proposed retention of surpluses.  The use of surplus funds approved to be retained by the 
the Association will be tracked by the Association and reported to MOL.  Any amount not 
approved to be retained will be recovered by MOL. 

Upon amalgamation in January 2010, IHSA recorded an unrestricted deficiency as the 
employer liability for employee exit benefits was not funded properly.  The WSIB approved 
a plan to retire the deficit over a fifteen year period. 
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Infrastructure Health & Safety Association 
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2013 

16. Financial Instruments 

Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for 
the other party by failing to discharge an obligation.  The Association’s financial 
instruments that are exposed to concentrations of credit risk relate primarily to cash and 
cash equivalents, short term investments, accounts receivable, and long term investments. 
The Association manages its exposure to this risk by maintaining its cash and investments 
with a major Schedule I bank and where feasible obtaining prepayment for courses held.  
Accounts receivable is net of an allowance for doubtful accounts of $40,374 
(2012 - $58,451). 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Association is exposed to 
interest rate risk arising from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect the 
value of fixed income denominated investments. 

Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Association encounters difficulty in meeting its obligations 
associated with financial liabilities. Liquidity risk arises from accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities, employee future benefits and commitments.  The Association continues to focus 
on maintaining adequate liquidity to meet operating working capital requirements and 
capital expenditures. 

17. Economic Dependence 

 The Association is dependent on the MOL for funding the cost of operations. 
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Are you ready?
We are.

Working at Heights Training 
New standard for

For more information 
about the standard 
and IHSA’s programs, 
visit ihsa.ca/fallp

The Ministry of Labour’s Chief Prevention Officer has released a Working at 
Heights Training Standard. It lays out what each worker needs to learn when 
taking mandatory working at heights training. 
 
IHSA’s Working at Heights—Fundamentals of Fall Prevention is a robust 
program that meets the purpose of the new standard. 
 
Learn to teach IHSA’s Working at Heights course yourself. Take our Working 
at Heights Instructor Workshop to become an IHSA-registered instructor.

Together we can stop falls from killing Ontario workers.

OHBA Ad.indd   1 2014-07-29   1:33 PM



Make safety work 
for you. IHSA is 
your first step.

IHSA is a leader in health and safety 

education. Through skills-based 

training, auditing, and evaluation, 

we provide safety solutions to those 

who perform high-risk activities 

such as working at heights, working 

with energized high-voltage power 

systems, driving motor vehicles, 

transporting dangerous goods, 

working on suspended access 

equipment, and utility line clearing. 

We incorporate a research-based 

educational methodology in 

everything we do, from the needs 

assessment stage through to 

program development, delivery, 

and evaluation. This comprehensive 

evaluation framework, which 

measures program and performance 

outcomes, is a critical element in 

high-risk activity education. 

Find out what 
we can do for you 

at ihsa.ca

5110 Creekbank Road, Suite 400  

Mississauga, Ontario 

 L4W 0A1 Canada 

Tel: 1-800-263-5024 

Fax: 905-625-8998

Dan, 
Educator

Training when and 
where you need it.
Voyager	Training	Centre	
21 Voyager Court South, Etobicoke, Ontario M9W 5M7 
Tel: 1-800-263-5024 • Fax: 416-674-8866 

Centre	for	Health	&	Safety	Innovation 
5110 Creekbank Road, Suite 400, Mississauga, Ontario L4W 0A1 
Tel: 1-800-263-5024 • Fax: 905-625-8998

Skills	Development	Centre 
5345 Creekbank Road, Mississauga, Ontario L4W 5L5  
Tel: 1-800-263-5024

IHSA’s	
Mobile	

Classroom


